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Financial Highlights
   2010	 	 2009  2008

Total revenues $		 207,418	 $ 188,246 $ 180,523
(Loss)/earnings before tax  (18,232)	 	 (30,621)  17,413
Income tax recovery  (18,584)	 	 (52,224)  (2,101)
Net earnings  352	 	 21,603  19,514
EBITDA(1)  134,678	 	 120,254  146,484
Adjusted EBITDA(1)  156,018	 	 153,359  158,061
Per Unit information

Unitholder Distributions declared $	 0.65	 $ 1.08 $ 1.29
Net earnings $	 0.01	 $ 0.44 $ 0.39

Total Assets  948,614	 	 953,856  1,017,523
Total debt  600,361	 	 589,129  558,639
Cash flow from operating activities  119,867	 	 126,648  128,708
Distributable Cash(1) $	 54,654	 $ 50,064 $ 69,230
Payout Ratio(1)  62%	 	 106%  92%
(1)   EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA, Distributable Cash and Payout Ratio are non-GAAP financial measures. Refer to the Non-GAAP Financial and Performance 

Measures in the MD&A section of this annual report.
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Message from the Chairman

This year was important in the evolution of our company. With the 

changes in federal legislation governing the taxation of income trusts, 

The Consumers’ Waterheater Income Fund took the next step in its 

growth by converting from an income trust structure to a dividend-

paying corporation. We maintained our former distribution level to 

unitholders and set our monthly dividend to be attractive to income-

oriented investors. At the same time, the company rebranded as 

EnerCare Inc. to reflect our new strategic direction and growing lines 

of business focusing on energy conservation solutions that meet the 

needs of today’s consumers. 

As we enter a new chapter in our history, EnerCare is continuing to 

move beyond its traditional roots in water heater rentals to reach out to 

a broader range of customers with diverse energy needs, to provide 

them with an array of energy-efficient products and services that 

will meet their household needs while helping them to contribute to the 

conservation of energy and to save money. With added product lines 

to our core Rentals business and expansion into Sub-metering, EnerCare 

is embracing new opportunities and adding new dimensions to our 

business. These new developments are key to our business growth and 

future, and they are the basis of the quality service we provide to our 

many customers, some of whom are profiled in this report.

The Board and management team are committed to stable growth in 

services and programs that make a lasting contribution to Canada’s 

growing culture of energy conservation. I would like to thank my fellow 

directors, the management team and our employees for their sustained 

effort and commitment to help make our vision a reality.

Jim Pantelidis, Chairman, Board of Directors
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John Macdonald, President and Chief Executive Officer

Message from our CEO

Fellow	Shareholders:

2010 was a year of significant transformation and accomplishment for 
EnerCare. Our Rentals business reduced attrition levels throughout the year 
by more than 25%. Our acquisition of Enbridge Electric Connections Inc. 
(now EnerCare Connections Inc. (“EnerCare Connections”)) in October 
made EnerCare the largest non-utility provider of sub-metering services in 
Canada. Our Board and management team are very pleased with these 
achievements. They represent significant progress in our ongoing efforts to 
solidify our customer base and strengthen the fundamentals of our business 
to support future growth.

EnerCare’s stated objective has been building the future through stability 
and growth. Our vision is to provide intelligent energy solutions that work 
for homeowners, multi-unit owners and tenants. With a focus on long term 
assets, we are delivering energy-efficient products, services and programs 
that save our customers money and enable them to make a substantial 
contribution to Canada’s growing culture of energy conservation. I believe 
the 2010 results reflect the success of this strategy as well as the quality of 
EnerCare’s execution. All of our key financial indicators trended positively 
and reflect significant progress in both of our business segments. 

Driving	Down	Attrition	

During 2010 we employed print, radio and telemarketing campaigns, 
door hangers, loyalty programs, digital and social media and consumer 
advocates to improve consumer awareness and educate them of the issues 
associated with the door-to-door campaigns employed by a number of our 
competitors. The results were positive. As indicated, attrition in our Rentals 
business fell by more than 25% in 2010. We plan to extend and enhance 
our efforts in this area during 2011.

We introduced a rental contract for new customers which requires a  
buyout of our product on contract termination, if terminated prior to the 
end of the useful life of the equipment. This will assist in protecting new 
capital investment from premature loss, and as this contract becomes more 
prevalent in our portfolio, it will continue to strengthen our business.
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Growing	the	Sub-metering	Business

With approximately 30,000 billing customers, EnerCare Connections’ business is complementary to our existing 
business and makes us the clear market leader in Sub-metering in Canada. This acquisition is already accretive 
to EBITDA. Sub-metering presents a strategic growth opportunity to EnerCare. It allows us to leverage our existing 
strengths in the marketplace to facilitate expansion into Canada’s rapidly evolving multi-residential market. The 
Ontario government’s recently enacted sub-metering legislation is favourable to Sub-metering and now provides 
the necessary clarity to allow both owners and tenants to make informed decisions on energy efficiency and 
conservation that will enable them to take full advantage of this important energy conservation tool. 

The new legislation combined with our acquisition means that our Sub-metering business is poised for growth 
and well positioned to make a significant contribution to energy conservation in Canada. 

Launching	EnerCare

In connection with our conversion to a corporation, the company rebranded from The Consumers’ Waterheater 
Income Fund to EnerCare Inc. The EnerCare name eloquently captures who we are and articulates the value 
that we offer to all of our stakeholders. Also, it succinctly reflects both our growing lines of business and our 
changed focus on dealing directly with customers. 

We expect that the EnerCare brand will come to represent a much clearer picture of our business, as well as 
the unique and compelling value proposition we present to the investment community. Our new brand will play 
a key role in enhancing our sales and marketing performance as we acquire new customers and broaden our 
existing customer relationships. 

Looking	Ahead

In 2011 we will aggressively combat attrition in our Rentals business by introducing new customer communication 
programs and continuing many initiatives introduced in 2010. The Consent Order with the Competition Bureau 
expires in February 2012, which will allow us greater freedom to counter competitive activities. 

We believe that sub-metering will be revitalized by the new legislation as well as continued increases in 
commodity prices. We have already increased our sales resources to ensure that we are well represented in 
the marketplace. At the same time we are continuing to take advantage of the cost efficiencies available to us 
by combining the two sub-metering companies.

This past year has been a pivotal time in the history of our company. I would like to thank our Board, our 
shareholders, customers and employees for their sustained effort and continued loyalty and support. Together, we 
will build on our existing strengths and focus on our priorities to become a leading player in Canada’s energy 
conservation initiative, while pursuing a disciplined strategy for achieving stability and growth over the long term.



Jenny and her family will be 
enjoying all the hot water they 
need, without giving a second 

thought to their water heater.

Recession-Resistant	Demand

Our Rentals business integrates a portfolio of approximately  
1.3 million installed water heaters, as well as other energy-efficient 
assets, rented primarily to residential customers in Ontario.
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 Operational Overview
Rentals Business Overview

EnerCare owns a portfolio of approximately  
1.3 million installed water heaters, and other 
assets, rented primarily to residential customers in 
Ontario. With no capital outlay, the company’s 
rental program provides homeowners with conve- 
nient installation and maintenance service for a 
vital piece of equipment in their home. For a fixed 
monthly fee, we provide Ontarians with peace 
of mind knowing they can count on this essential 
service backed by seasoned professionals.

Direct Energy Marketing Limited (“Direct Energy”) 
provides service support to approximately 99% of 
EnerCare’s rental portfolio. Our alliance enables 
EnerCare to access Direct Energy’s certified and 
highly skilled service technicians and replacement 
crews, significantly reducing the company’s expo- 
sure to operating risks. Additionally, Direct Energy  
is a sales channel for EnerCare. Their field 
technicians represent our products to homeowners 
while their sales force sells our products to the new 
home construction market, allowing us to achieve 
our vision to become a key player in Canada’s 
growing culture of conservation.

Consumers are becoming more aware of the 
benefits to our environment and the cost savings 
available through conservation and as a result we 
are continuing to see our most efficient offerings, 
high efficiency traditional water heaters and tankless 
heaters, grow in our portfolio. These energy-saving 
water heaters already constitute approximately 
17% of all our new home construction installations.

Our business model and market offerings have 
helped us to build a large, stable diversified 
customer base, which has allowed EnerCare to 
grow revenues every year since inception. Long 
average asset life combined with high rates of 
customer retention result in a recession-resistant 
business that delivers strong and reliable cash flow.

Rentals Attrition
(in 000s)

2008 2009 2010 

113

84

45
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Sub-metering Business Overview

EnerCare offers sub-metering and remote mea-
surement of electricity, heat and water in multi-unit 
condominium complexes and apartment buildings 
to a broad customer base. Our sub-meters provide 
tenants with the information required to understand 
their energy use and make better decisions that will 
allow them to conserve energy and save money. 

EnerCare is the largest non-utility provider of 
sub-metering in Canada. After entering the sub-
metering business in August 2008 with the 
purchase of Stratacon Inc. (“Stratacon”), the 
company approximately doubled its Sub-
metering business in October 2010 by acquiring 
Enbridge Electric Connections Inc., now EnerCare 
Connections Inc. 

With approximately 30,000 billing customers, 
EnerCare Connections is complementary to the 
company’s existing Sub-metering business con-
ducted through Stratacon. Stratacon’s core market 
focus is in the retro-fit rental apartment sector, 
whereas EnerCare Connections is focused on new 
buildings and the condominium sector. Combined, 
the two companies have approximately 92,000 
units under contract. 

Sub-metering complements the company’s legacy 
Rentals business and supports our strategy since it: 

• is consistent with our business model  
and allows us to leverage our marketplace 
strengths; 

• allows us to expand into Canada’s rapidly 
growing multi-residential market; and 

• offers significant opportunities for energy 
conservation. 

EnerCare is well positioned for growth and will 
make a significant contribution to the growing 
culture of energy conservation in Canada.

Sub-meter Installed Base
(in 000s)

2008 2009 2010

35

77

33



Angela’s new condominium 
complex will benefit from a 

turn-key sub-metering solution 
with no capital investment.

Intelligent	Energy	Solutions	Provider

EnerCare strives to achieve stable business growth by providing 
intelligent energy solutions that enable its customers to meet their 
daily needs more efficiently and economically, while contributing  
to Canada’s growing culture of conservation.
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Corporate Governance

Sound corporate governance is a defining char-
acteristic of EnerCare. The company’s Board of 
Directors and management believe that investor 
confidence and support is earned through honesty, 
fairness and transparency. As such, the Board 
is committed to maintaining high standards of 
corporate governance and disclosure policies. 
EnerCare’s system of governance and policies is 
designed to enhance the ability of the Board to 
supervise management’s activities and oversee the 
investments and affairs of the company to enhance 
long-term shareholder value. 

The role of the Board of Directors is to ensure that 
the company’s governance system fosters a culture 
of trust, integrity and high standards of behaviour 
to help sustain a track record of ongoing success. 
The Board is committed to:

• Maintaining strong underlying business 
fundamentals;

• Generating stable and growing distributable 
cash;

• External growth through acquisitions;
• Organic growth by focusing on growing  

the installed residential and commercial 
customer asset base; and

• Providing quality service by executing  
a predictable and reliable customer  
service model.

EnerCare’s Board of Directors consists of six 
members, five of whom are unrelated to, and 
independent from, the company and Direct 
Energy. In lieu of Direct Energy’s Board of Trustees 
appointment rights set forth in the Declaration of 
Trust of the Fund, Direct Energy and EnerCare 
entered into a nomination agreement dated as of  
January 1, 2011, which provides that for so long 
as Direct Energy is the servicer under the Co-
ownership Agreement, Direct Energy is entitled to 
put forth one individual for consideration by the 
Governance Committee and the Board of Directors 
for inclusion in EnerCare’s annual management 
information circular for election as a director. 

The Board has an Audit Committee, an Investment 
Committee and a Governance Committee, each 
of which is exclusively comprised of independent 
directors.

An outline of EnerCare’s policies and the mandates 
for the Board of Directors and its committees can 
be found in EnerCare’s Management Information 
Circular and/or Annual Information Form, or  
by visiting www.enercare.ca or on SEDAR at 
www.sedar.com. 
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Audit	Committee

The Audit Committee consists of four independent 
and financially-literate directors: Michael Rousseau 
(Chair), Jim Pantelidis, Jerry Patava and Lisa de 
Wilde. The role of the Audit Committee is to review: 

• the engagement of auditors;
• the financial policies and procedures of  

EnerCare;
• the financial statements of EnerCare;
• budgets; and
• payments to Direct Energy pursuant to the 

Origination Agreement.

Investment	Committee

The Investment Committee consists of three 
independent directors: Roy J. Pearce (Chair), 
Jim Pantelidis and Michael Rousseau. The 
Investment Committee is responsible for:

• reviewing all proposals regarding investments, 
dispositions and borrowings of EnerCare 
and making recommendations in connection 
therewith to the directors;

• approving any material changes to EnerCare’s 
Investment Policy, if any;

• reviewing reports pertaining to new  
water heaters to make recommendations  
in connection with the purchase thereof  
by EnerCare and approval of rental charges  
to be charged in respect of water heaters  
by Direct Energy;

• financing and interest rate hedging strategies; 
and

• target leverage ratios, target ratings on 
EnerCare, EnerCare’s shares and debt 
securities, and target dividends on  
EnerCare’s shares.

Governance	Committee

The Governance Committee consists of four 
independent directors: Jerry Patava (Chair), 
Jim Pantelidis, Roy J. Pearce and Lisa de Wilde. 
The Governance Committee is responsible for: 

• considering and providing a recommendation 
on any conflict of interest involving Direct 
Energy before such conflict of interest is 
approved by the directors;

• annually reviewing: (i) the compliance 
by EnerCare and its subsidiaries of their 
respective undertakings in respect of 
EnerCare’s continuous disclosure obligations; 
(ii) the performance of Direct Energy; and  
(iii) adjustments to be made pursuant to  
the Co-ownership Agreement;

• developing EnerCare’s approach to  
corporate governance;

• advising the directors in filling director 
vacancies;

• periodically reviewing the compensation  
and effectiveness of the directors and the 
contribution of individual directors;

• assisting in orientating and providing for 
continuing education for the directors;

• advising the directors in the selection and 
retention of senior management;

• periodically reviewing the compensation and 
performance of senior management;

• assisting in the professional development of 
senior management;

• assisting in developing and managing benefit 
plans for employees; and

• performing the additional duties set out in 
its mandate or otherwise delegated to the 
Governance Committee from time to time by 
the Board of Directors or otherwise required 
by law.
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Board of Directors

Jim	Pantelidis
65, Director and Chair  
of the Board

Mr. Pantelidis is Chairman 
of the board of directors of 
Parkland Fuel Corporation, 

and a member of the board of directors of 
Industrial Alliance Insurance Financial Services 
Inc., RONA inc. and Equinox Minerals Limited. 
From 2004 to 2006 Mr. Pantelidis was Chairman 
& Chief Executive Officer of FisherCast Global 
Corporation, a manufacturer of molten metal 
injection technologies. From 2002 to 2003  
Mr. Pantelidis was the President and Chief Executive 
Officer of JP & Associates, a strategic consulting 
company. From 1999 to 2001, Mr. Pantelidis 
was Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of 
Bata Limited, a leading, privately held, global 
footwear retailer and manufacturer, prior to which  
Mr. Pantelidis had a 30-year career in the petroleum 
industry and was at one time President of both 
the Resources Division and the Products Division 
of Petro-Canada. Mr. Pantelidis holds a Bachelor 
of Science degree and a Master of Business 
Administration degree, both from McGill University.

Lisa	de	Wilde
54, Director

Ms. de Wilde has been Chief  
Executive Officer of The Ontario  
Educational Communications 
Authority (TVO) since 2005. 

Previously, Ms. de Wilde was the President 
and CEO of Astral Television Networks Inc. Her 
other board and advisory appointments include: 
Toronto International Film Festival Group (Chair of 
the Finance and Audit Committee); Government 
of Ontario’s Task Force on Competitiveness, 
Productivity and Economic Progress; McGill 
Univer sity Desautels Faculty of Management, 
International Advisory Board; ORION (member 
of the Board of Directors); and Canadian Digital 
Media Network. Ms. de Wilde also served as 
a member of the Board of Trustees of Noranda 
Income Fund from 2002 to 2010 (Chair of the 
Board of Trustees and member of the Governance 
and Audit Committees). Ms. de Wilde graduated 
from McGill University with an Honours Bachelor 
of Arts and a LL.B degree.

John	A.	Macdonald
54, Director

Mr. Macdonald is President 
and Chief Executive Officer 
of EnerCare. From 2002 to 
2006 Mr. Macdonald served 

as President and Chief Executive Officer of Hydro 
One Telecom Inc. Mr. Macdonald has previously 
held senior marketing positions at AT&T Canada 
Inc. and Nortel Networks Corporation and was a 
member of the board of advisors of Atria Networks 
LP until 2010. Mr. Macdonald is a registered 
professional engineer and holds a Bachelor of 
Applied Science in Electrical Engineering from the 
University of Toronto.
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Jerry	Patava
57, Director and Chair of  
the Governance Committee 

Mr. Patava is the Chief 
Executive Officer of the Great 
Gulf Group of Companies, a 

position he has held since July 2007. He is also 
a trustee of Trimac Income Fund and a member of 
the Governance and Compensation Committee, 
Lead Director of Trimac Transportation Ltd. and the 
past Chair of Kids Help Phone. Mr. Patava served 
as a trustee of Osprey Media Income Fund from 
December 2004 until August 2007 and as a 
director of TransAlta Power, L.P. from May 2005 
until December 2007. Mr. Patava was Executive 
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of 
Fairmont Hotels & Resorts Inc., a position he held 
from January 1998 to January 2005. Previously, 
he was Vice President and Treasurer of Canadian 
Pacific Limited from 1990 to 1997 and served 
as Vice President and Director of RBC Dominion 
Securities Inc. from 1986 to 1990. Mr. Patava 
has a Bachelor of Arts degree from the University 
of Toronto and a Master of Business Administration 
from York University.

Roy	J.	Pearce
68, Director and Chair of the 
Investment Committee

Mr. Pearce was the Chief 
Financial Officer of K2 Pure 
Solutions Canada Corporation 

from April 2007 until his retirement in November 
2008. From 2002 to 2005, Mr. Pearce was the 
Chief Financial Officer of the KCP Income Fund 
and from 1996 until 2002 he was the Chief 
Financial Officer of the predecessor business KIK 
Corporation. From 2005 until 2006, Mr. Pearce 
was a trustee of the ACS Media Income Fund. 
Mr. Pearce held the position of Chief Financial 
Officer for the Plastics Division of Crown Cork and 

Seal Company, Inc. from 1994 to 1996, and 
was the Chief Financial Officer of Crown Cork 
and Seal Canada, Inc. from 1992 to 1994. 
Mr. Pearce has held senior finance positions with 
various companies including Gilbey Canada Inc., 
Lever Detergents Limited, Monarch Fine Foods 
Limited, John Labatt Ltd., and Lever Brothers Inc. 
Mr. Pearce is a Chartered Accountant.

Michael	Rousseau
53, Director and Chair 
of the Audit Committee

Mr. Rousseau is Executive Vice 
President and Chief Financial 
Officer of Air Canada, a 

position he has held since 2007. Mr. Rousseau 
was the President of the Hudson’s Bay Company 
in 2006 and 2007, and from 2001 to 2006 was 
Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer 
of Hudson’s Bay Company. Mr. Rousseau has also 
served as a director and member of the Audit and 
Finance Committees of AbitibiBowater Inc. since 
2010 and served as a trustee and Chair of the 
Audit Committee of Golf Town Income Fund from 
2004 to 2007. From 1999 to 2001, he served 
as Senior Vice President & Chief Financial Officer 
of Moore Corporation and was also a member of 
Moore’s Pension Committee. From 1993 to 1999 
he was Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 
of Silcorp Limited. Mr. Rousseau holds a Bachelor 
of Business Administration from York University and 
is a Chartered Accountant.

David Clarke resigned as a trustee of the Board of  
The Consumers’ Waterheater Income Fund in May 2010.
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The consolidated financial statements of the Fund are prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP. The Fund’s 
accounting policies are summarized in detail in note 2 of the annual consolidated financial statements. Unless 
otherwise specified, amounts are reported in this MD&A in thousands, except customers, units and “per Unit” 
amounts and percentages (except as otherwise noted). Dollar amounts are expressed in Canadian currency.

The Fund operates its businesses in two divisions: Rentals – rentals of water heaters and other equipment and 
Sub-metering – provision of sub-metering equipment and billing services. 

Certain definitions of key financial and operating terms used in this MD&A are located at the end of this MD&A 
under “Glossary of Terms”. 

On January 1, 2011, pursuant to a plan of arrangement the Fund converted to a dividend paying corporation, 
EnerCare Inc. and the Trust converted to EnerCare Solutions Inc. The Conversion will be accounted for on a 
continuity of interest basis. Reporting provided herein as at December 31, 2010 still refers to units, unitholders 
and distributions, whereas from January 1, 2011 references are to shares, shareholders and dividends. 
References in this MD&A in respect of periods subsequent to December 31, 2010 are to EnerCare and 
references in this MD&A to the Trust in respect of reporting periods subsequent to December 31, 2010 are to 
EnerCare Solutions.

Table of Contents



152010 Annual Report

Forward-looking Information

This MD&A, dated February 22, 2011, contains certain forward-looking statements that involve various risks 
and uncertainties and should be read in conjunction with the Fund’s 2010 audited consolidated financial 
statements. Additional information in respect of the Fund and EnerCare, including the Fund’s AIF and the 
Conversion Circular can be found on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. 

When used herein, the words “anticipates”, “believes”, “budgets”, “could”, “estimates”, “expects”, “forecasts”, 
“intends”, “may”, “might”, “plans”, “projects”, “schedule”, “should”, “will”, “would” and similar expressions are 
often intended to identify forward-looking information, although not all forward-looking information contains these 
identifying words. The forward-looking information in this MD&A includes statements that reflect management’s 
expectation regarding the Fund’s and EnerCare’s growth, results of operations, performance, business prospects 
and opportunities. Such forward-looking information reflects management’s current beliefs and is based on 
information available to them and/or assumptions management believes are reasonable. Many factors could 
cause results to differ materially from the results discussed in the forward-looking information. Although the 
forward-looking information is based on what management believes to be reasonable assumptions, neither the 
Fund nor EnerCare can assure investors that actual results will be consistent with this forward-looking information. 
All forward-looking information in this MD&A is made as of the date of this MD&A. Except as required by 
applicable securities laws, neither the Fund nor EnerCare intends and does not assume any obligations to update 
or revise the forward-looking information, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

A thorough discussion in respect of the material risks relating to the business and structure of the Fund and 
EnerCare can be found in the AIF and Conversion Circular, which are available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.  
The risk factors remain unchanged from the date of the AIF except as updated in the Conversion Circular 
under the headings “Risk Factors-Risk Factors Relating to the Conversion” and “Appendix “G” – Information 
Concerning Fund-Update to Risk Factors”, which sections are incorporated by reference herein.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
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2010 Highlights 

The following highlights compare 2010 results with 2009.

•  Attrition in the Rentals business decreased to 6.4% in 2010 from 8.0% in 2009. Attrition decreased by 
29,000 units or 26% in 2010, including a reduction of approximately 35% or 9,000 units in the fourth 
quarter 2010 versus the same period in 2009. Total portfolio units declined by only 1% (3.2% excluding 
the EECI acquisition) compared to a decline of 5.9% in 2009.

•  Total revenues of $207,418 increased by 10% over 2009. Revenues in the Rentals business increased 6% 
or $9,732 to $187,574, primarily as a result of the impact of the 2010 rental rate increase. Sub-metering 
revenues increased by $9,325 or 90% to $19,643, primarily due to the inclusion of ECI. 

•  EBITDA1 increased by 12% to $134,678 in 2010, primarily due to improved Rentals revenue, lower 
Attrition, reduced unit exchanges and the absence of impairment charges. Adjusted EBITDA1 increased by 
2% to $156,018. The improvement in Adjusted EBITDA was driven principally by higher revenues from the 
Rentals business.

•  Net earnings were $352 in 2010, approximately $21,300 lower than 2009. Operating results improved 
by $12,400 in 2010 compared to 2009. The improvement in operating results was offset by a $33,700 
reduction in income tax recoveries.

•  The Payout Ratio2 improved to 62% in 2010 from 106% in 2009, primarily as a result higher Distributable 
Cash2 and the change in distribution levels implemented in September 2009, offset slightly by the Unit 
offering.

•  Cash and equivalents increased by approximately $27,200 in 2010, primarily due to the public offering 
of Convertible Debentures and Units in June and July 2010.

1  EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA are Non-GAAP financial measures. Refer to the Non-GAAP Financial and Performance Measures section 
in the MD&A.

2  Payout Ratio and Distributable Cash are Non-GAAP financial measures. Refer to the Non-GAAP Financial and Performance Measures 
section in the MD&A.
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Recent Developments – 2010 and 2011 To Date

Corporate Conversion

On October 12, 2010, the Trustees of the Fund approved the planned conversion of the Fund from an income 
trust to a dividend-paying corporation on a tax free “roll-over” basis for Canadian federal income tax purposes, 
effective January 1, 2011. In connection with Conversion, the Fund announced that it expected that EnerCare 
would maintain the Fund’s previous distribution level of $0.648 per share annually as monthly dividends of 
$0.054 per share, with the first dividend payable to shareholders of record on January 31, 2011.

On November 25, 2010, the Conversion was approved with 99.8% of the Units represented at the meeting 
voting in favour. On November 29, 2010, the final order from the Ontario Superior Court of Justice for the 
Fund’s Conversion was obtained.

The Conversion was undertaken pursuant to a statutory plan of arrangement under the Canada Business 
Corporations Act. The Conversion resulted in, among other things, the following occurring on the effective date 
of the Conversion (January 1, 2011):

•  Each Unit was exchanged for one common share of EnerCare.
•  EnerCare assumed the Convertible Debentures, which became convertible into the common shares of 

EnerCare on the same terms as they were convertible into Units (being a current conversion price of $6.48 
per Unit).

•  The Trust was dissolved and EnerCare Solutions assumed the Trust’s 2009 Notes and 2010 Notes.
• The Fund was dissolved.
•  EnerCare’s common shares and the Convertible Debentures were listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange in 

substitution of the Units and the Convertible Debentures.

Financing Activities

In December 2009, the Trust closed the 2009 Bridge and New Revolver, comprising a one-year $240,000 
non-revolving bridge facility and a three-year $35,000 revolving credit facility. The 2009 Bridge was drawn 
fully on January 27, 2010 to retire the 2003 Notes on January 28, 2010. Security on the 2009 Notes was 
released on January 29, 2010.

On January 27, 2010, $12,500 of the New Revolver was drawn and applied to the previous line of credit 
that matured on January 28, 2010. 

On February 19, 2010, the Trust issued $240,000 of 2010 Notes. The proceeds of the 2010 Notes were 
used to repay the 2009 Bridge. 

In February 2010, DBRS confirmed its rating of “A” on the Trust’s 2009 Notes, but changed its outlook from 
“stable” to “negative”. The outlook was based on DBRS’ concern about Attrition and “the potential for modest 
erosion in coverage metrics in 2010”. S&P announced it changed its rating and outlook on the 2009 Notes 
to “A–” from “A/negative” and issued a corporate rating on the Trust and Fund of “A–/stable”. While S&P 
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viewed the Trust’s risk profile as strong, they reported their concern about the impact of competition on the Trust’s 
financial profile, among other things. In November 2010, DBRS changed its rating from “A” with a negative 
outlook to “A” (low) with a stable outlook. The change was in line with S&P’s rating.

On June 8, 2010, the Fund completed a public offering of a combination of 5,210,000 Units of the Fund at 
a price of $4.80 per Unit for gross proceeds of approximately $25,000 and $25,000 principal amount of 
6.25% convertible unsecured subordinated debentures due June 30, 2017, for aggregate gross proceeds of 
approximately $50,000 ($47,505 net cash proceeds). The Units and Convertible Debentures were offered 
under a short form prospectus dated June 1, 2010 filed with the securities regulatory authorities in each of 
the provinces of Canada. On July 6, 2010, the underwriters partially exercised their over-allotment option to 
purchase an additional $2,883 principal amount of Convertible Debentures. The gross proceeds from the 
offering, including the over-allotment option, were approximately $52,883 ($50,388 net cash proceeds).

For a description of financial covenants found in these financing instruments see “Non-GAAP Financial and 
Performance Measures – Measures Regarding Debt Covenants”.

New Billing Arrangements Completed

In February 2010, the Fund, DE and other billers completed new billing arrangements with EGD consisting of 
a new OBA Agreement and proceeds transfer and trust agreement. The OBA Agreement and the proceeds 
transfer and trust agreement substantially preserve the major financial terms and protections of the prior billing 
arrangements with EGD, and have an initial term ending in March 2012.

2002 Consent Order 

In March 2010, the Competition Bureau approved, subject to certain exceptions, a new form of water heater 
rental contract in respect of new water heater installations. Under the new contract, the Fund may require a 
customer to purchase their water heater at a specified price if the customer terminates their rental agreement. 

Sub-metering – Regulatory Developments

OEB Compliance Proceeding against Toronto Hydro Electric System Limited

On January 27, 2010, the OEB issued a decision in a compliance proceeding against THESL that found 
that THESL’s practice and policy of refusing to allow new condominium developments to be sub-metered by 
any party other than THESL is a contravention of THESL’s legal and regulatory obligations. On February 22, 
2010, the OEB ordered THESL to change its conditions of service and policies to allow any condominium or 
apartment developer or condominium corporation the choice of having suite metering provided by a licensed 
smart sub-metering provider, such as the Fund’s subsidiaries Stratacon and ECI, or by THESL. The OEB also 
required THESL to inform all developers who have requested suite metering over the past two years that they 
may have the choice to have suite metering provided by a licensed smart sub-metering provider, even if a suite 
metering contract has already been signed with THESL.
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New Sub-metering Regime in Ontario

On April 22, 2010, the Energy Act was passed by the Ontario legislature. In October 2010, the Government 
of Ontario published Regulations under the Energy Act and RTA regarding suite sub-metering. The Regulations 
and the Energy Act (collectively, the “Legislation”) came into force January 1, 2011. The Fund’s subsidiaries, 
Stratacon and ECI, through the sub-metering working group, provided comments on the draft Legislation. 
The Legislation permits individual suite sub-metering in apartment buildings, condominium complexes and 
commercial buildings in Ontario. Among other things, the Legislation:

•  amends the RTA to permit sub-metering, subject to first providing tenants with required information and 
subject to receiving consent from a sitting tenant;

•  confirms the right of sub-metering providers to shut off the distribution of electricity for non-payment, subject 
to prescribed conditions and exceptions;

•  provides the OEB with oversight over security deposit policies chargeable by sub-metering providers and 
imposes licensing requirements on sub-metering providers; 

•  requires the installation of suite meters in “new” residential buildings; 
•  sets information, rent reduction and refrigerator efficiency requirements;
•  disallows suite metering of electric heat in residential rental buildings, except in respect of currently installed 

sub-meters, subject to certain conditions; and
•  transitions existing suite meter arrangements and existing licenses of sub-meter providers into the new regime.

Acquisition of Enbridge Electric Connections Inc. (now EnerCare Connections Inc. “ECI”)

On October 1, 2010, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Fund, completed the acquisition of all of the outstanding 
shares of EECI for approximately $22,508 in cash, net of a $692 working capital adjustment realized after 
close. EECI is principally engaged in the provision of equipment and services under long-term contracts with 
customers to allow sub-metering and remote measurement of electricity and water in multi-unit condominium 
complexes and apartment buildings in Ontario. With approximately 30,000 billing customers, EECI’s business 
is complementary to the Fund’s existing Sub-metering business conducted through Stratacon. EECI’s customer 
base is predominantly in the new and retro-fit condominium market segments, while Stratacon’s core market 
focus is in the retro-fit rental apartment sector.

Executive Officer Changes

On September 7, 2010, R. Stephen Bower, resigned as the Chief Financial Officer of the Fund and its 
subsidiaries.

On September 8, 2010, Chris Cawston was appointed interim Chief Financial Officer of the Fund and its 
subsidiaries on a six month contract basis. Mr. Cawston’s employment engagement has been extended to 
May 13, 2011.
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Results of Operations

Overview

The following results of operations include Sub-metering results from the acquisition of Stratacon in August 
2008 and EECI on October 1, 2010. Accordingly, the Fund’s consolidated financial results include partial 
year Sub-metering results in both 2008 and 2010.

Consolidated Financial Highlights 2010 2009 2008

Total revenues $ 207,418 $ 188,246 $ 180,523

(Loss)/earnings before tax  (18,232)  (30,621)  17,413

Income tax recovery  (18,584)  (52,224)  (2,101)

Net earnings  352  21,603  19,514

EBITDA   134,678  120,254  146,484

Adjusted EBITDA  156,018  153,359  158,061

Per Unit information   

 Unitholder Distributions declared $ 0.65 $ 1.08 $ 1.29

 Net earnings $ 0.01 $ 0.44 $ 0.39

Total Assets  948,614  953,856  1,017,523

Total debt  600,361  589,129  558,639

Cash provided by operating activities  119,867  126,648  128,708

Distributable Cash $ 54,654 $ 50,064 $ 69,230

Payout Ratio  62%  106%  92%
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2010 vs. 2009

Total revenues increased by approximately 10% or $19,172 to $207,418 in 2010. The improved revenues 
were comprised of a $9,732 improvement in Rentals, $9,325 in Sub-metering and $115 from investment 
income. The Rentals revenue increase was driven by a rental rate increase effective January 2010, offset by 
the net impact of Attrition and asset additions throughout the year. Sub-metering revenues increased largely 
due to the inclusion of ECI in the fourth quarter. Net earnings were $352 in 2010, approximately $21,300 
lower than 2009. Operating results improved by $12,400 in 2010 compared to 2009. The improvement in 
operating results was offset by a $33,700 reduction in income tax recoveries.

EBITDA for 2010 increased by $14,424 due to improved Rentals revenue, reductions in Attrition, impairment 
charges and loss on disposal of equipment. Adjusted EBITDA increased by approximately $2,700 or 2% as a 
result of higher revenues offset by cost of sales and SG&A expenses. Total assets decreased by approximately 
$5,200 in 2010, primarily due to the impact of paid distributions and net changes in borrowings and equity 
offerings. Total debt increased by $11,232 due to the Convertible Debenture offering net of the New Revolver 
repayment. Cash flow from operating activities declined by approximately $6,800 in 2010, primarily as a 
result of changes in non-cash working capital. Distributable Cash increased by $4,590 to $54,654, primarily 
as a result of lower capital expenditures attributable to fewer asset exchanges. The Payout Ratio improved to 
62%, primarily due to an increase in Distributable Cash and a $37,000 reduction in distributions declared.

2009 vs. 2008

Total revenues in 2009 rose by 4% or $7,723, comprised of an increase of $6,786 to $10,318 in Sub-
metering and an increase of $1,624 to $177,842 in the Rentals business. Investment income declined by 
$687 to $86 in 2009 primarily due to lower interest rates. The Rentals revenue increase was driven by the 
average rental rate increase of 4% effective January 2009 for water heaters subject to the co-ownership 
agreement, offset by the impact of Attrition throughout the year. Sub-metering revenues increased largely due to 
reporting a full year of operating results in 2009. Net earnings improved by 11% to $21,603 in 2009 largely 
due to tax recoveries which offset a decline in earnings before tax. Future provincial tax rate changes enacted 
in December 2009 added approximately $22,000 to the total tax recovery of $52,224, the balance of 
which relates to reversal of temporary differences and tax recoveries of losses created within the Fund. Earnings 
before tax were negatively impacted by increased costs of approximately $14,000 for loss on disposal of 
equipment, $12,000 interest expense, $9,000 amortization, $7,500 impairment charges and the net impact 
of $5,000 for higher cost of sales and G&A and total revenues.

EBITDA for 2009 declined from the prior year primarily due to increased loss on disposal of equipment and 
impairment charges. Adjusted EBITDA declined by $4,702 or 3% during 2009. Total assets decreased by 
approximately $64,000 in 2009 primarily due to the impact of amortization, increased loss on disposal of 
equipment and impairment charges related to the Sub-metering business. Total debt increased by $30,490 
due to the financing of the Hedge loss and proceeds from the Old Revolver. Cash flow from operating activities 
declined by $2,060 in 2009 primarily as a result of increased interest expense and cost of sales and G&A 
offset by changes in interest payable and working capital related to the addition of Stratacon in 2008. 
Distributable Cash declined by $19,166 to $50,064 and the Payout Ratio increased by 14% in 2009, 
primarily as a result of increased interest expense, cost of sales and G&A, and capital expenditures. The fourth 
quarter Payout Ratio was 86% due in part to the reduction of distributions as of September 2009.
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Earnings Statement

      2010 2009

Revenues  

 Rentals   $ 187,574 $ 177,842

 Sub-metering    19,643  10,318

 Investment income    201  86

Total revenues    207,418  188,246

Cost of sales and SG&A expenses  

 Rentals    21,507  15,388

 Sub-metering    22,629  14,061

 Corporate    7,063  5,352

Total cost of sales and SG&A expenses    51,199  34,801

Amortization expense    110,329  112,539

Loss on disposal of equipment    21,340  25,601

Impaired assets    –  7,504

Interest expense    43,797  38,422

Other income    1,015  –

Loss before income taxes    (18,232)  (30,621)

Income tax recovery    18,584  52,224

Net earnings    352  21,603

EBITDA     134,678  120,254

Adjusted EBITDA   $ 156,018 $ 153,359

Revenues

Total revenues of $207,418 for 2010 increased by approximately $19,200 or 10% compared to the same 
period in 2009. Rentals revenues increased by $9,732 to $187,574 in 2010, primarily due to higher 
rental rates and lower Attrition. Sub-metering revenues in 2010 were $19,643, an increase of approximately 
$9,300 as a result of the acquisition of EECI in the fourth quarter. Pass through commodity charges for 2010 
and 2009 were approximately $13,500 and $6,200, respectively.

Investment income in 2010 increased by $115 to $201 as a result of improved investment rates and larger 
investment balances during the period.



232010 Annual Report

Cost of Sales and Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Cost of sales and SG&A expenses for the Rentals business and the corporate segment was $28,570 during 
2010, an increase of approximately $7,830 over the same period in 2009. The increase primarily relates 
to approximately $2,600 increased collection provisions and related costs, $2,500 in marketing programs 
supplementing DE’s marketing and customer communications programs, compensation of $2,300 related to 
incentive compensation, including the PUP, increased employee counts and employee severance, $900 in 
professional fees which include conversion costs, and claims expense of $500 partially offset by lower capital 
taxes and other net expenses.

Sub-metering cost of sales and SG&A expenses of $22,629 increased by approximately $8,600 comprised 
of $9,002 related to ECI, offset by a reduction in a number of Stratacon’s operating expenses. 

Amortization Expense

Amortization expense decreased by $2,210 to $110,329 in 2010, primarily due to the expiry in the fourth 
quarter of 2009 of fair market value amortization credits that originated with the inception of the Fund in 
2002 and accelerated intangible amortization in 2009 as part of the finalized purchase price allocation in 
connection with the acquisition of Stratacon. In the fourth quarter of 2010, a change in the estimated useful 
lives of sub-meters resulted in a small reduction in amortization expense (see “Critical Accounting Estimates”). 

Interest Expense

Interest Expense  2010 2009

Interest expense payable in cash   $ 37,268 $ 33,896

Non-cash items:  

(Gain) on interest rate Hedge    –  (509)

Amortization of bridge fees    1,440  1,107

Amortization of OCI and financing costs    5,089  3,928

Interest expense   $ 43,797 $ 38,422

Interest expense payable in cash increased by $3,372 to $37,268 in 2010 over the same period in 2009, 
primarily due to the full year impact of the Trust’s 2009 Notes, the 2010 Notes and the Convertible Debentures 
issued in 2010. The amortization of bridge fees relates to the 2009 Bridge that was repaid when the 2010 
Notes were issued in March 2010. Amortization of OCI and financing costs increased to $5,089 as a result 
of the 2010 Notes and the Convertible Debentures and the full year impact of charges related to the 2009 
Notes and hedge loss amortization. 



EnerCare24

Other Income

In September 2010, the Fund and the vendors under the share purchase agreement pursuant to which the Fund 
acquired Stratacon reached a settlement in respect of various claims for indemnification made by the Fund 
pursuant to the share purchase agreement. The settlement included the release of $1,000 plus interest to the 
Fund from the escrow account established at the time of acquisition and a reduction of 15% to amounts to be 
paid to the vendors pursuant to the earn-out under the share purchase agreement.

Loss on Disposal of Equipment

In 2010, the Fund reported a loss on disposal of equipment of $21,340, representing a decrease of 
approximately $4,300 or 17%. The loss on disposal amount is influenced by the number of assets retired, 
changes in the retirement asset mix and the age of the assets retired. 

Income Tax Recovery

The Fund reported a future income tax recovery of $18,584 as a result of temporary difference reversals and 
recoveries relating to tax losses in Sub-metering. The 2010 tax recovery was lower than that of 2009 by 
$33,640, primarily as a result of the Hedge loss and approximately $22,000 related to changes in future 
provincial tax rates in the fourth quarter of 2009.

Adjusted EBITDA and EBITDA

The following table summarizes comparative quarterly results for the last eight quarters, and reconciles net 
earnings, a GAAP measure to EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA.

Quarterly Earnings Before Interest, Taxes and Amortization (EBITDA)

   Q4/10 Q3/10 Q2/10 Q1/10 Q4/09 Q3/09 Q2/09 Q1/09

Net earnings/(loss) $ (3,223) $  1,296 $  2,346 $      (67) $15,784 $ (6,004) $  7,556 $  4,267

Tax (recovery)/expense (3,513) (5,266) (4,856) (4,949) (28,065) (11,242) (9,697) (3,220)

Amortization expense 26,934 27,601 27,891 27,903 28,414 31,203 26,540 26,382

Interest expense 10,666 10,693 10,325 12,113 10,107 10,069 9,962 8,284

Interest (income) (107) (1,102) (5) (2) (14) (3) (3) (66)

EBITDA   30,757 33,222 35,701 34,998 26,226 24,023 34,358 35,647

Add: Loss on disposal 
 of equipment 4,673 5,756 5,918 4,993 6,086 11,000 5,081 3,434

Add: Impaired assets – – – – 4,106 3,398 – –

Adjusted EBITDA  $35,430 $38,978 $41,619 $39,991 $36,418 $38,421 $39,439 $39,081
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Adjusted EBITDA increased by $2,659 to $156,018 in 2010. Most of the improvement in Adjusted EBITDA 
was driven by higher revenues from the Rentals business. EBITDA of $134,678 for 2010 improved by 
approximately $14,400 over the comparable period in 2009 due to increased revenue and a reduction 
in loss on disposal and impairment charges. In addition to the impact of Attrition, fluctuations in SG&A and 
customer claims are the main drivers of changes in Adjusted EBITDA.

Billing and Servicing Matters

Capital items

The Fund has been in discussion with DE regarding certain amounts DE has billed the Fund for water heater 
installations. The amounts at issue totalled approximately $3,100 at the end of 2010. Settlement with DE for 
a lower amount than billed would result in a reduction to previously stated capital expenditure amounts.

Earnings items

DE, through EGD, provides billing and collection services for substantially all of the Fund’s water heaters and 
other assets. Following the September 2009 billing system conversion implemented by DE, which coincided 
with a billing system conversion by EGD, the Fund’s ICFR identified issues principally associated with DE’s 
system conversion impacting the Fund’s customers, including issues in respect of the allocation of customer 
payments, customer collections, and billing issues, including completeness of billing, billing in respect of new 
customers and implementation of new rental rates. The Fund has been working closely with DE to identify and 
rectify these issues. The accounting estimates associated with these issues for 2010 are summarized as follows:

•  The Fund estimated and recorded revenues of $1,700 in respect of customer billings and adjustments 
associated with new customer additions and billing rate increases that have not been completed by DE. 

•  Collection exposures and the erroneous application of customer payments were identified for which a 
$1,600 provision was required related to revenues from customers outside the EGD customer areas.

•  Buyout charges of $750 that had been accrued were expensed to bad debts when billing charges were 
not invoiced.

The Fund is working closely with DE to resolve these billing issues, correct deficiencies and eliminate the need 
for these accruals, billing analysis and associated collection efforts. The amounts included in these financial 
statements reflect the amounts expected to be recovered from customers, but do not include any amounts the 
Fund may recover from DE for lost revenues arising from these billing system conversion issues. 

Settlement with DE for an amount in excess of what has been accrued would result in an increase to previously 
stated EBITDA amounts.
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Distributable Cash and Payout Ratio

      2010 2009

Cash provided by operating activities   $ 119,867 $ 126,648

Net change in non-cash working capital    99  (7,099)

Operating Cash Flow3     119,966  119,549

Capital expenditures – excluding acquisitions and Sub-metering    (68,977)  (73,053)

Proceeds on disposal of equipment    3,665  3,568

Distributable Cash    54,654  50,064

Distributions declared    (34,061)  (53,288)

Net cash retained/(distributed) by the Fund   $ 20,593 $ (3,224)

Payout Ratio    62%  106%

The Payout Ratio, after capital expenditures (excluding acquisitions and Sub-metering capital investment) was 
approximately 62% for 2010 compared to 106% for the same period in 2009. In 2010, the Payout Ratio 
improved as a result of the reduction in distributions in September 2009 and increased Distributable Cash 
due to improved margins, offset by the additional Units issued in June 2010. The Fund intends to finance its 
recurring capital expenditures with cash flows from operations and cash on hand.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

      2010 2009

Cash flow from operating activities   $ 119,867 $ 126,648

 Net change in non-cash working capital    99  (7,099)

Operating Cash Flow    119,966  119,549

 Net capital expenditures    (65,312)  (69,485)

 Acquisitions/Earnout    (22,508)  (1,520)

 Growth capital – Sub-metering    (3,213)  (4,096)

Cash used in investing activities    (91,003)  (75,101)

 Distributions paid     (36,735)  (55,938)

 Net financing    35,057  9,063

Cash (used in)/provided by financing activities    (1,678)  (46,875)

Cash and equivalents – end of period   $ 52,495 $ 25,339

3  Operating Cash Flow is a Non-GAAP financial measure. Refer to the Non-GAAP Financial and Performance Measures section in 
this MD&A.
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Operating Cash Flow of $119,966 for 2010 increased by $417 or 1% compared to the same period in 
2009, largely as a result of increased revenues in the Rentals business and other income partially offset by 
increased cost of sales and SG&A expenses. Cash flow from operating activities is a GAAP measure which 
is impacted by the timing of net changes in non-cash working capital. In 2009 the working capital changes 
were primarily related to a reduction in accounts receivable and an increase in interest and accounts payable. 
In 2010 the increase in accounts receivable was largely offset by an increase in accounts payable primarily 
as a result of the acquisition of EECI.

Capital investments in 2010 were lower primarily due to reduced asset exchanges in the Rentals business 
and lower investments in Sub-metering as a result of the regulatory uncertainty in respect of Sub-metering. The 
acquisitions and earnout amount represent the purchase of EECI while no amount was recorded in 2010 as 
part of the deferred compensation arrangement with the former Stratacon shareholders. Net financing activity 
for 2010 primarily reflects the impact of the offering of Units and Convertible Debentures and repayment of 
the New Revolver.

The Trust is subject to a number of covenants and has the ability to incur additional senior debt as described 
in Liquidity and Capital Resources – Cash from Financing.

Management believes that the Fund has sufficient cash flow, cash on hand and credit available to meet 
its 2011 obligations, including the working capital requirements of the Sub-metering business and capital 
expenditures for the Rentals and Sub-metering businesses.

Capital Expenditures

Capital expenditures typically have a significant impact on liquidity and are best understood with reference to 
the unit continuity analysis below.

Asset Unit Continuity
(in thousands) 2010 2009

  Sub- Sub- 
Segment Rentals metering Total Rentals metering Total

Units – start of period  1,322 35 1,357 1,409 33 1,442

Portfolio additions 29 12 41 26 10 36

Acquisitions  – 30 30 

Attrition  (84) – (84) (113) (8) (121)

Units – end of period  1,267 77 1,344 1,322 35 1,357

Asset exchanges – units retired and replaced  60 – 60 74 – 74

% change in units during the period  (1.0%)   (5.9%)

% of units from start of period:  

Portfolio additions (net of acquisitions)  3.0% 2.5%

Attrition  (6.2%)   (8.4%)

Units retired and replaced  4.4% 5.1%
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Net capital expenditures in the Rentals business include portfolio additions and asset exchanges, net of 
proceeds on disposal. In 2010, net capital expenditures (excluding acquisitions) in the Rentals business 
were $65,312, decreasing by approximately $4,000 when compared to 2009. During 2010, the Rentals 
portfolio additions and asset exchanges decreased by approximately 11,000, which largely accounts for the 
decrease in capital expenditures.

Attrition of 84,000 assets was approximately 26% lower than 2009 in part due to customer communications 
and marketing programs delivered by the Fund and DE. The trend in Attrition reduction has been consistent 
throughout the year with a fourth quarter improvement of approximately 35% compared to the fourth quarter 
of 2009. 

Cash from Financing

Financing activities for the Fund reflect mainly Unitholder distributions, refinancing of the Trust’s indebtedness, 
the Fund’s offering of Units and Convertible Debentures, and to a much lesser extent financing of the  
Sub-metering business. The Fund has historically generated sufficient cash flows to maintain operations and invest 
in growth opportunities. During 2009, distributions were reduced to allow the Fund to finance capital investments 
to grow its Sub-metering and Rentals businesses, support marketing programs to defend its customer base  
and strengthen its financial position. The net financing activity for 2010 primarily reflects the repayment of the  
New Revolver and amounts in respect of the Convertible Debenture and Unit offerings. Financing activities in 
2009 reflect the increase in short term borrowings on the revolving line of credit.

Capitalization  2010 2009

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 52,495 $ 25,339

Net investment in working capital    (5,149)  (7,419)

Cash, net of working capital    47,346  17,920

Total debt    600,361  589,129

Unitholder’s equity    160,516  165,311

Total capitalization – book value   $ 760,877 $ 754,440

Typically, the Fund maintains cash balances to provide sufficient cash reserves to satisfy short-term requirements, 
including interest payments, Unitholder distributions and certain capital expenditures and acquisitions. The Fund 
held $52,495 of cash on hand at December 31, 2010, an increase of approximately $27,200 from the 
prior year, comprised of the proceeds of the Unit and Convertible Debenture issues, changes in distributions, 
partially offset by the purchase of EECI and a reduction of bank indebtedness.

At December 31, 2010, total debt was comprised of the 2009 Notes and 2010 Notes, Convertible 
Debentures and the Stratacon secured debt. The 2003 Notes and 2009 Bridge were repaid in the first quarter 
of 2010 and the New Revolver was repaid in the third quarter of 2010.

The Trust is subject to a number of covenant requirements as described in the AIF. The following discussion 
outlines the principal covenants. 
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New Revolver

Under the New Revolver, the Trust is subject to three principal financial covenants as described in the AIF. The 
covenants address interest and debt coverage. The Trust complied with these covenants on December 31, 
2010. No amounts were drawn on the New Revolver at the end of 2010.

2009 Notes and 2010 Notes – Incurrence Test

The covenants under the 2009 Notes and 2010 Notes are contained in a master trust indenture and 
supplemental indentures effective January 29, 2010 and February 19, 2010 respectively. Under the 
terms of these indentures, the Trust may not incur additional senior debt other than certain refinancing  
debt and certain working capital debt if the Incurrence Test (as described in the AIF) is less than 3.8 to 1. 
On December 31, 2010 the Trust exceeded this minimum and has the capacity under the covenant to raise 
approximately $9,000 additional senior debt should it elect to do so.

Summary of Quarterly Results

   Q4/10 Q3/10 Q2/10 Q1/10 Q4/09 Q3/09 Q2/09 Q1/09

Total revenues $57,169 $49,676 $51,450 $49,123 $44,727 $46,121 $48,208 $49,190

Net earnings/(loss) (3,223) 1,296 2,346 (67) 15,784 (6,004) 7,556 4,267

Unitholder distributions declared 8,867 8,867 8,304 8,023 8,023 13,322 15,972 15,972

Average Units outstanding 54,734 54,734 50,841 49,524 49,524 49,524 49,524 49,524

Per Unit        

Basic/diluted  
  net (loss)/earnings   ($0.06) $    0.02 $    0.05 $    0.00 $    0.32    ($0.12) $    0.15 $    0.09

Unitholder distributions  
  declared $  0.162 $  0.162 $  0.163 $  0.162 $  0.162 $  0.269 $  0.323 $  0.323

Revenues in the Rentals business reflect rate increases implemented generally in January of each year and 
changes in the portfolio over time. Revenues declined through much of 2009 due to the impact of Attrition in 
the Rentals portfolio and as a result of a lower billing base in the Sub-metering business due primarily to the 
OEB Order. The revenues in 2010 were influenced by the January rate increase, billing and servicing matters 
and the acquisition of EECI in the fourth quarter of 2010.

Differences in net earnings between quarters reflect the profile of certain expenses, as well as the timing and 
amount of future income tax recoveries. Commencing in the fourth quarter of 2009, Unitholder distributions 
reflect the full impact of the distribution reduction effected in September 2009. The average number of Units 
outstanding and the related per Unit data reflect the Unit offering of June 2010.
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Summary of Contractual Debt and Lease Obligations

The following schedule summarizes the contractual debt and lease obligations of the Fund at December 31, 2010:

     Principal Interest 
Year     Payments Payments Leases

2011  $ 1,204 $ 37,205 $ 479

2012   61,247  35,249  180

2013   241,323  26,724  109

2014   271,383  11,182  110

2015   1,426  1,958  –

Thereafter  29,788  2,782  –

Total   $ 606,371 $ 115,100 $ 878

Long-term senior contractual obligations of the Fund include debt service on the 2009-1 Notes, 2009-2 Notes 
and 2010 Notes bearing interest at 6.20%, 6.75% and 5.25%, respectively. Interest on the 2009 Notes is 
payable semi-annually on April 30 and October 30 and on March 15 and September 15 in respect of the 
2010 Notes. The Stratacon secured debt of $8,488 was issued in 14 series with maturity dates ranging 
from 4 to 14 years, ending in 2022. The interest rate on the secured debt ranges from 7.5% to 8.75% and 
is paid monthly.

At December 31, 2010, $35,000 of the New Revolver was available to be drawn. The New Revolver bears 
a standby fee of 0.825% which is included in the above schedule until maturity in January 2013.

The Convertible Debentures bear interest at 6.25% with interest payable semi-annually on June 30 and 
December 31 until maturity in June 2017.

Lease obligations include premises, vehicles and office equipment. Approximately $870 of the future expense 
obligations are the result of four leased premises. Vehicle and office equipment leases expire in 2011.
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Fourth Quarter Results of Operations

Earnings Summary  2010 2009

Revenues

Rentals    $ 45,044 $ 43,024

Sub-metering    12,018  1,689

Investment income    107  14

Total Revenues    57,169  44,727

Cost of sales and G&A expense  

Rentals     5,391  3,427

Sub-metering     12,957  2,706

Corporate    3,284  2,162

Total cost of sales and G&A expenses    21,632  8,295

Amortization expense    26,934  28,414

Interest expense    10,666  10,107

Loss on disposal of equipment    4,673  6,086

Impaired assets    –  4,106

(Loss)/earnings before income taxes   (6,736)  (12,281)

Income tax recovery   3,513  28,065

Net earnings   $ (3,223) $ 15,784

EBITDA    30,757  26,226

Adjusted EBITDA   $ 35,430 $ 36,418

Fourth Quarter Overview

Unless stated otherwise, the narrative in this section is in reference to the operating results for the fourth quarter 
of 2010.

Revenues

Total revenue of $57,169 in 2010 increased by approximately $12,400 or 28% compared to 2009. 
Rentals revenue for the period was impacted by the January rate increase, the billing and servicing matters and 
asset mix changes. Sub-metering revenues improved by $10,329 in 2010, of which approximately $9,300 
was related to the acquisition of EECI. 

Investment income was $107 or $93 greater than in the same period in 2009 due to the combination of 
greater investment balances and improved investment rates.
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Cost of Sales and SG&A Expenses

Cost of sales and SG&A expenses increased by $13,337 over 2009 to $21,632. Sub-metering costs 
increased by approximately $10,300, $9,000 of which includes ECI for the period and $1,300 on account 
of commodity charges and meter servicing accruals in Stratacon. Rentals and corporate costs increased by 
approximately $3,100 related to incentive compensation and wages of $1,100, professional fees of $700 
including Conversion expenses, $900 in bad debt provisions, $200 in marketing and other expenses. 

Amortization Expense

Amortization expense of $26,934 was $1,480 lower than in 2009, primarily the result of cumulative 
portfolio Attrition and the expiry of shorter intangible amortization periods relating to a portion of the Stratacon 
intangibles. 

Interest Expense

In 2010, interest expense of $10,666 was $559 higher than the same period in 2009. Interest costs payable 
in cash were $335 higher in 2010 due primarily to the issuance of Convertible Debentures partially offset by 
lower bank indebtedness. The remainder of the 2010 increase is on account of the non-cash interest expense 
which included the costs of the 2010 Notes and Convertible Debenture offering.

Loss on Disposal of Equipment

During 2010, approximately 33,000 units were removed and exchanged, representing a net decrease of 
12,000 units or 27% over the same period in 2009. Removals were 9,000 units lower than 2009 for a 
reduction of approximately 33% in part due to continued marketing efforts while exchanges decreased by 
3,000 units or approximately 17%. The reduction in units was the principal component of the expense decrease.

Impaired Assets

During the fourth quarter of 2009, $4,106 was recognized as a charge to earnings related to impaired 
intangible assets and installed equipment in the Sub-metering business. The charges were primarily as a result 
of notices of termination from landlords following regulatory developments in Ontario and Alberta. No charges 
were recorded in 2010.
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Net Earnings

Earnings before income taxes in 2010 were approximately $5,500 better than 2009, as previously described. 
Net earnings decreased by $19,007 in 2010 primarily as a result of the favorable impact in 2009 of lower 
provincial tax rates in future years.

EBITDA

EBITDA improved in 2010 by $4,531 to $30,757 as a result of continued strength in Adjusted EBITDA, the 
impact of lower Attrition and asset exchanges on loss on disposal and the absence of impairment charges.

Adjusted EBITDA

Adjusted EBITDA was $35,430, approximately $1,000 lower than 2009 due to improved revenues offset by 
expenses which include Conversion costs. Adjusted EBITDA in the Sub-metering business improved with ECI 
contributing approximately $300 during the period.

Business Structure and Overview

The Fund commenced operations on December 17, 2002, when it completed its initial public offering of 
Units, the proceeds of which were used to finance the purchase of the rental portfolio from DE. The Fund 
was dissolved on January 1, 2011 pursuant to the Conversion and was succeeded by EnerCare. The Fund 
was an unincorporated open-ended trust established with an unlimited number of trust units under the laws 
of the Province of Ontario pursuant to the Second Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust dated May 1, 
2008, as amended. As at December 31, 2010, the Fund had issued and outstanding 54,734,092 publicly-
traded (not in thousands) Fund Units (now common shares of EnerCare (TSX: ECI)). The Trust was dissolved on  
January 1, 2011 pursuant to the Conversion and was succeeded by EnerCare Solutions. The Fund’s wholly-
owned subsidiary, the Trust, has incurred the substantial majority of the Fund’s total indebtedness.

The Fund (now EnerCare) operates its business of renting water heaters, heating, ventilation and air conditioning 
(“HVAC”) and related assets to residential and commercial customers, in Ontario. In August 2008 the Fund 
acquired Stratacon, providing sub-metering and other services and equipment to residents in apartment 
buildings and condominiums primarily in Ontario, Alberta and elsewhere in Canada. This was the Fund’s first 
significant operating business since the inception of the Fund. On October 1, 2010, the Fund acquired EECI, 
effectively doubling its Sub-metering business. Operating risks associated with these assets are described more 
fully in the AIF and the Conversion Circular, which are available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.

The Rentals business is carried out through a group of subsidiary entities wholly-owned, directly and indirectly, 
by the Fund, and the Sub-metering business is carried out through an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of the 
Fund that is not a subsidiary of the Trust (now EnerCare Solutions Inc.).
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The Fund business structure at December 31, 2010 was as follows:

On January 1, 2011 EnerCare’s business structure was as follows:
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The Rentals business has a long history of strong financial returns – including the eight years of the Fund’s 
existence, and decades prior to that with predecessor organizations. Customer service and support, including 
billing, collections, and inventory management, are largely provided by third party service providers. Among 
them, DE and its independent contractors service and support approximately 99% of the Rentals portfolio, 
91% of which is administered under the co-ownership agreement. For these services, under the co-ownership 
agreement between the Fund and DE, the Fund receives 65% of Rental revenues and DE receives the remaining 
35% of revenues from the assets co-owned by the Fund and DE under the agreement. As a result, the Fund’s 
exposure to operating risk is significantly reduced. 

The remaining 9% of the installed Rentals asset base, represented by the water heater units acquired from  
TH Energy and Festival in 2007 and from Thunder Bay in 2008 are not subject to the co-ownership agreement, 
and as a result, all of the Rental revenues derived from these customers flow to the Fund, and the Fund incurs 
the operating costs and is exposed to the operating risks associated with these units. As well, HVAC units are 
not covered under the co-ownership agreement between DE and the Fund, and the Fund receives all of the 
rental proceeds from these units. The Fund has entered into protection plan arrangements with DE to minimize 
many of the operating risks from these HVAC units.

The Sub-metering business, through qualified contractors, supplies, installs and bills individual suites in apartment 
and condominium buildings for electricity and other services consumed by each resident. The equipment and 
services are typically contracted for a period of 10 to 25 years. 

The Fund and DE have no investment interest in each other’s businesses. In late 2007, the Fund completed the 
internalization of the team that managed the Fund’s business strategy and operations. As at December 31, 
2010, the Fund had 87 employees, including 62 employees as part of the Sub-metering business.

Business Strategies 

Distributable Cash and Payout Strategy

Distributable Cash indicates the extent to which cash generated from operations is sufficient to service interest 
costs on EnerCare’s debt, finance capital expenditures and make distributions to Shareholders. The level of 
distributable cash and future distributions depends mainly on EnerCare’s operating performance and the 
level of capital expenditures. A major objective of EnerCare is to provide shareholders with a high level of 
distributions over time, while providing modest growth in the cash and equivalents held by EnerCare to meet 
its operating and growth requirements. Financing of acquisitions affects cash and borrowings. 

Productive Capacity

The Fund defines the level of productive capacity in terms of the total number of Rentals and Sub-metering assets. 
The Fund preserves the ability to generate distributable cash from operations into the future by maintaining or 
growing the number of installed units and/or by replacing lower valued assets with higher valued assets which 
typically generate corresponding increases in revenues and cash flows. 
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The capital expenditures required to maintain the Rentals productive capacity is a function of asset mix, turnover 
(exchanges and Attrition) and the average cost to supply and install the units. The cost to install water heaters 
is a function of the cost to acquire tanks from suppliers, the inflation-adjusted installation allowance paid to 
DE under the terms of the Origination Agreement and the allowances paid to residential home builders to 
install a new water tank. Changes in asset mix towards more expensive products such as power vented tanks, 
commercial and HVAC units, and tankless systems will have a greater impact on revenue as a whole and on 
a per unit basis as they become material.

Productive capacity is negatively impacted when Attrition materially exceeds net additions on a year or  
over basis.

Growth Capital Expenditures

Growth capital expenditures represent capital expenditures incurred for new additions to the asset portfolio net 
of asset retirements and reflect an increase in the revenue-generating asset base during a reporting period. This 
is done through the addition of new customer units in excess of Attrition, or by the acquisition of portfolios of 
assets. There are a limited number of rental portfolios in Ontario available for acquisition – primarily the rental 
portfolios of electric utilities. The acquisitions by the Fund of Thunder Bay, TH Energy, Festival and PowerStream 
assets are examples of this type of growth investment. Capital deployed towards assets outside of the Fund’s 
traditional business, such as Sub-metering, are considered by management to be growth expenditures.

Debt Management Strategy

The Fund’s and EnerCare’s debt management strategy is to issue and maintain investment-quality debt instruments 
while meeting the Fund’s capital structure and financing requirements. The Fund’s and EnerCare’s objectives are 
to refinance long-term debt on maturity, taking into account market and operating conditions, and to spread 
the maturities on its total debt to reduce refinancing risk. Additional debt to finance acquisitions and working 
capital has been supported by a revolving line of credit. Based on this approach, no provision to retire debt 
of the Trust (or EnerCare Solutions) is made in the determination of Distributable Cash. 

Income Taxes

The Fund’s distributions to Unitholders were substantially taxable in the hands of the Unitholder, with typically 
less than 5% representing a return of capital for individual investors. As outlined in “Recent Events” the Fund 
converted to a dividend paying corporation effective January 1, 2011. Dividends from EnerCare will be 
eligible for a dividend tax credit if paid or allocated to a resident of Canada. EnerCare will be subject to 
corporate income tax in 2011 with the expectation of installment payments commencing in 2012.
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Transactions with DE

In addition to the 35% of revenues earned by DE for services under the co-ownership agreement, the following 
amounts for capital and expenses were paid or payable to DE to purchase the water heaters and related 
Rentals assets, in addition to certain fee-for-service arrangements (such as in respect of the TH Energy units) 
and other support.

Amounts Paid or Payable to DE  2010 2009

Origination Agreement  

Capital Expenditures   $ 60,914 $ 67,415

Inventory Service Fee    3,974  4,254

Other capital expenditures    5,496  5,333

Other expenses, including billing and servicing costs    3,230  3,193

Total     $ 73,614 $ 80,195

Under the terms of the co-ownership agreement and the Origination Agreement (the principal operating 
agreements between the Fund and DE), DE provides a range of operating services to the Fund. These 
agreements set out the rights and obligations of the parties and the fees payable by the Fund to DE for the 
services. Copies of these agreements are available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.

In summary, the agreements are as follows:

Co-ownership Agreement – Under this agreement, DE receives, subject to certain exceptions, 35% of the 
gross revenue generated by the co-owned portfolio of assets and is obligated to service the asset portfolio, 
effectively operating the day-to-day activities of the Rentals business. Pursuant to an agreement between DE 
and EnerCare, DE is entitled to put forth one individual for consideration by EnerCare’s board for inclusion in 
EnerCare’s annual management information circular for election as a director of EnerCare for as long as it is 
servicer under the co-ownership agreement.

Origination Agreement – Under this agreement, subject to certain exceptions, DE must offer to sell all rental 
water heaters to the Fund at prescribed prices, essentially at DE’s cost plus an inventory service fee and a set 
installation fee. The Fund has no obligation to purchase any water heaters. The agreement also establishes 
an incentive fee payable to DE should certain growth targets be achieved. The initial term of the Origination 
Agreement is through December 2022 and is subject to extension or early termination in certain circumstances.

In addition to the above agreements, the Fund and DE have entered into an agreement for the servicing of 
TH Energy units, as these units are not subject to the co-ownership agreement. This agreement provides for the 
administration and servicing of the portfolio on a fee-for-service basis.
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The Fund and DE have also entered into an agreement for the origination of HVAC rental units, whereby DE 
was given the right to originate HVAC rental customers and to provide protection plans related to these HVAC 
rental customers. The Fund has the right to originate HVAC rental customers outside of this arrangement with DE.

Each of the above agreements continued following Conversion with EnerCare and/or EnerCare Solutions as 
the applicable party in place of the Fund and Trust, respectively.

Fund Units Issued and Outstanding

The Fund’s Declaration of Trust provided that an unlimited number of Units may be issued. Each Unit was 
transferable and represented an equal and undivided beneficial interest in any distribution of the Fund and in 
the net assets of the Fund.

There were two classes of Units authorized: Units and Special Trust Units. At December 31, 2010, 54,734,092 
Units were issued and outstanding, and no Special Trust Units were outstanding. The number of issued and 
outstanding Units was 49,524,092 prior to the June 2010 offering of 5,210,000 additional Units. Gross 
proceeds from the Unit offering were $25,008. 

EnerCare’s articles of incorporation provide for the issuance of an unlimited number of common shares and 
10,000,000 preferred shares.

Update to Risk Factors

The risks related to the Fund’s and EnerCare’s business and structure as discussed in the AIF, as updated in the 
Conversion Circular under the headings “Risk Factors-Risk Factors Relating to the Conversion” and “Appendix 
“G”-Information Concerning the Fund-Update to Risk Factors”, which sections are incorporated by reference 
herein, remain unchanged.

IFRS

Effective January 1, 2011, Canadian GAAP will change to adopt International Financial Reporting Standards 
for publicly traded enterprises, including the Fund and the Trust (now EnerCare and EnerCare Solutions) and 
their predecessor entities. The initial reporting under IFRS will be for the first quarter of 2011 with comparative 
data for 2010.

The Fund has completed preparation for the conversion to IFRS. Significant accounting policy choices and 
financial statement impacts are discussed below.



392010 Annual Report

Business Activities

The Fund acquired Stratacon in August 2008. The Stratacon purchase included contingent consideration for 
the 3 year period ending July 31, 2011. Management’s estimate of this obligation is $5,000. This obligation 
will be reflected on the Fund’s Balance Sheets for the periods ending December 31, 2009 and 2010. Any 
difference between this estimate and the amount ultimately paid will be reflected in the Fund’s 2011 Statement 
of Earnings. 

The Fund acquired EECI in October 2010 and used the updated accounting for business combinations, which 
is consistent in all material respects with IFRS business combination rules, to account for the transaction. There 
was no contingent consideration included in the EECI acquisition and as a result, no adjustments are required.

The Fund has also considered the impact of IFRS on covenants associated with long-term financial instruments. 
The Fund does not expect any significant changes in its overall business strategy from the impact of the 
transition to IFRS.

Information Technology

There is no significant impact on the methods of capturing, recording and communicating financial information 
through information technology. No other significant changes are required for the Fund’s or its service provider’s 
information technology infrastructure relating to the transition to IFRS.

Internal Controls over Financial Reporting

The Fund has largely completed its review and update of processes and procedures to ensure an adequate 
level of internal control is achieved as the transition to IFRS reporting proceeds. Process and documentation 
changes, as well as training and support for the Fund’s finance and accounting team, the Disclosure Committee, 
Audit Committee and the Board of Trustees have all been addressed. Internal controls regarding financial 
reporting related to specific activities and requirements surrounding the first-time adoption have also been 
considered and all required updates to ICFR and DC&P have been implemented. 

Management will continue to monitor and update ICFR as required during 2011.

Training

Training sessions have already been provided to key personnel of the Fund to ensure a sufficient level knowledge 
of IFRS policies has been achieved to implement the transition. Management and the audit committee have 
been briefed on the major differences and expected impact of these differences that may affect the Fund’s 
financial statements. Formal and informal training for the individuals involved in the changeover to IFRS, as well 
as other senior management and the Board of Trustees of the Fund is complete and will be continuing based 
on the experience and needs of each individual. Additional training will be provided as required, including 
for any new IFRS standards that are promulgated in the future.
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Accounting Policies

Management has substantially completed detailed component evaluation analysis (“CE”), which determines 
the appropriate IFRS policies, disclosure and presentation for each financial statement line item based on 
accounting standards that have been issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). These 
CEs have been reviewed by the Fund’s auditors and a summary of all material issues contained in the CEs has 
been presented to the Fund’s Audit Committee. A final version of the January 1, 2010 opening balance sheet 
and revised note disclosure was approved by the Audit Committee and is currently under final review by our 
auditors. Some limited work remains to estimate the impact of changes in measurement and recognition in the 
following areas: impairment, presentation and measurement of the Convertible Debentures and consequential 
impacts on income taxes. The Fund intends to finalize the CEs, opening balance sheet and financial statement 
disclosures prior to the end of February 2011. 

In anticipation of IFRS adoption and possible changes, the Trust’s borrowing agreements, including those 
related to the 2009 Notes 2010 Notes and New Revolver, determine covenants and coverage ratios based 
on Canadian GAAP prior to adopting IFRS. Accordingly, the adoption of IFRS is not expected to have any 
direct impact on the Fund’s financial covenants. The Convertible Debentures do not have covenants that 
would be affected by IFRS. Management believes the implementation of IFRS will have a minimal impact 
on contractual arrangements and compensation plans. Covenants relating to any future indebtedness will be 
negotiated based on IFRS.

The evaluation and preliminary conclusions regarding the significant standards applicable to the Fund’s 
accounting policies are as follows:

IFRS 1– First-time Adoption of IFRS

Management has reviewed its available exemptions under IFRS 1 – First-time adoption of IFRS and has 
concluded that it will use the elective exemptions for business combinations. Business combinations completed 
prior to transition will not be restated retroactively. In particular, the acquisition of Stratacon incurred transaction 
costs that were included in the purchase price allocation. Under IFRS these costs would have been expensed 
as incurred.

Transaction costs related to the October 1, 2010 EECI acquisition will be expensed under Canadian GAAP 
and reported accordingly in our annual 2010 financial statements. Upon transition to IFRS, there will be  
no difference. 

IFRS 3 – Business Combinations

Management has identified that treatment of business combinations under IFRS may result in an impact on 
its results of operations when compared to its current policies under GAAP. Costs attributed to an acquisition 
transaction are expensed in the period incurred under IFRS whereas under GAAP prior to 2010, the Fund 
defers and allocates such costs to identifiable assets or goodwill in the purchase equation once the acquisition 
has closed. In addition, management identified that if business combinations contain contingent consideration, 
the treatment under IFRS will involve measurement and recognition of subsequent changes in the fair value  
of contingent consideration that differs from the treatment under GAAP. 
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The acquisition of Stratacon in 2008 contains contingent consideration that was not fully recognized in the 
financial statements under GAAP. The Funds opening balance sheet will reflect an estimate of $5 million for 
the additional contingent consideration due after the transition to IFRS on January 1, 2010, with appropriate 
changes in that estimate reflected in the Fund quarterly and annual reporting throughout 2011

IAS 12 – Income Taxes

The Fund recognizes that, under IFRS, its basis for recognition, measurement and presentation of future  
tax assets and liabilities may differ from its current presentation under GAAP. The adoption of IFRS will not 
affect the internal processes over calculating and maintaining tax records as this data is readily available using 
current systems.

IAS 16 – Property and Equipment

Under IFRS, after initial recognition, it is possible to measure property and equipment using the cost model or 
the revaluation model. The revaluation model is not allowed under GAAP. The Fund will continue to use the 
cost model.

IAS 18 – Revenue Recognition

Management has performed its component evaluation on IAS 18 – Revenue Recognition and has concluded 
that there will be no significant impact on revenue recognition from the transition to IFRS. To ensure completeness 
of its evaluation, management analyzed each source of the company’s revenue and determined whether it 
meets the criteria for revenue recognition under IFRS. Management concluded that all sources of currently 
recognized revenue under GAAP would continue to be recognized under IFRS.

IAS 36 – Impairments

The Fund is required to perform impairment tests on its depreciable assets when there are indicators of 
impairment, and for indefinite intangible assets and goodwill on an annual basis. Management has assessed 
its definite lived assets and has determined the intangible assets recognized as part of the Stratacon purchase 
were impaired by approximately $15,000. This amount will be reflected in the opening balance sheet as at 
January 1, 2010 as a reduction to intangibles and a charge to equity. The Fund does not have any indefinite 
lived intangibles or goodwill. With the change to IFRS, GAAP changes from a two stage cost recovery model 
to a lower of cost and fair value model which for the Fund results in a determination of fair value based upon 
discounted, rather than undiscounted cash flows.

IAS 37 – Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

IAS 37 requires a provision to be recognized when: (i) there is a present obligation as a result of a past 
transaction or event; (ii) it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; 
and (iii) a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation. The threshold for recognition of a provision under 
GAAP is higher than under IFRS. While it is possible that some contingent liabilities which would not have 
been recognized under GAAP may meet the criteria for recognition as a provision under IFRS no amount is 
expected by the Fund.
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In addition to the sections noted above, there are generally more extensive presentation and disclosure 
requirements under IFRS as compared to GAAP. These have been noted in the Fund’s detailed analysis and are 
included in the draft IFRS materials reviewed by our auditors and presented to the Audit Committee.

On an on-going basis, management is monitoring the International Accounting Standard Board’s activities, 
giving consideration to any proposed changes, where applicable, in its assessment of differences between 
IFRS and GAAP.

Non-GAAP Financial and Performance Measures

The consolidated financial statements of the Fund are prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP. The 
Fund’s accounting policies are summarized in detail in note 2 of the annual consolidated financial statements.

The Fund reports on certain Non-GAAP measures that are used by management to evaluate performance of 
the Fund and meet certain covenant requirements relating to its debt financing. Since Non-GAAP measures do 
not have standardized meanings prescribed by GAAP, securities regulations require that Non-GAAP measures 
be clearly defined, qualified, and reconciled with their nearest GAAP measure. These measures do not have 
standardized meanings or interpretations, and may not be comparable to similar terms and measures provided 
by other issuers.

Non-GAAP financial indicators used by the Fund and reported in this MD&A include:

Measures of Asset Portfolio Performance

Capital Expenditures and Acquisitions

The Fund makes two principal types of investments to grow its installed base of water heaters, sub-meters and 
other assets: capital expenditures and acquisitions. 

Measures of Financial Performance

EBITDA

This measure comprises net earnings plus income taxes, interest expense and amortization expense, less 
interest income. It is one metric that can be used to determine the Fund’s ability to service its debt, finance 
capital expenditures, and provide for the payment of distributions to Unitholders. EBITDA is reconciled with net 
earnings, a GAAP measure, in the section “Results of Operations” in this MD&A.

Adjusted EBITDA

This measure comprises net earnings plus income taxes, interest expense, amortization expense, impairment 
losses and loss on disposal of equipment, less interest income. It is one metric that can be used to determine 
the Fund’s ability to service its debt, finance capital expenditures, and provide for the payment of distributions 
to Unitholders. Adjusted EBITDA is reconciled with net earnings, a GAAP measure, in the section “Results of 
Operations – Adjusted EBITDA and EBITDA” in this MD&A.
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Distributable Cash

Distributable Cash is the amount of cash generated during a period and available to service debt, finance 
capital expenditures and provide for the payment of distributions to Unitholders. It comprises net earnings of the 
Fund, plus non-cash items such as future income taxes and amortization, less capital expenditures. Distributable 
Cash is reconciled with cash flow from operating activities, a GAAP measure, in the section “Distributable 
Cash and Payout Ratio” in this MD&A.

Distributions and Payout Ratio

Distributions were declared and paid monthly to Unitholders at the discretion of the board of trustees of the 
Fund. Among other things, the trustees consider the level of Distributable Cash, the level of previous distributions, 
and the amount of cash they wish to retain in the Fund for contingencies and future growth. The Payout Ratio is 
the percentage of Distributable Cash to distributions declared to Unitholders during a period. The Payout Ratio 
indicates the ability of the Fund to pay distributions, finance capital expenditures and add to its cash reserves.

Operating Cash Flow

Operating Cash Flow is the cash flow from operating activities excluding changes in non-cash working capital. 
It represents the net cash generated in earnings, excluding non-cash items. It is one indicator of financial 
strength of the Fund. Operating Cash Flow is reconciled with cash flow from operating activities, a GAAP 
measure, in the section “Liquidity and Capital Resources” in this MD&A.

Measures Regarding Debt Covenants

The Fund was in compliance with all covenants under the 2009 Notes, 2010 Notes and New Revolver as at 
December 31, 2010. A summary of the current covenants as described in the AIF is discussed below. 

New Revolver

Under the New Revolver, the Trust is subject to three principal financial covenants as described in the AIF. The 
covenants address interest and debt coverage. The Trust complied with these covenants and has the ability to 
draw on the New Revolver.

2009 Notes and 2010 Notes – Incurrence Test

The covenants under the 2009 Notes and 2010 Notes are contained in a master trust indenture and 
supplemental indentures effective January 29, 2010 and February 19, 2010, as applicable. Under the terms 
of these indentures, the Trust may not incur additional senior debt other than certain refinancing debt and 
certain working capital debt if the Incurrence Test (as described in the AIF) is less than 3.8 to 1. 
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Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with Canadian generally accepted 
accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. These estimates are based on the 
Fund’s historical experience and various other assumptions that management believes to be reasonable under 
the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the reported amounts in 
the consolidated financial statements that are not readily apparent from other sources. The critical accounting 
estimates for the Fund are the estimated useful lives of equipment and intangible assets. During 2010, additional 
accruals were recorded (see “Billing and Servicing Matters”).

Equipment

Equipment is stated at cost, adjusted to fair market value where cost exceeds the net recoverable amount. For 
the Rentals business, costs include the purchase price of the water heaters and other assets, and installation 
allowances. There exists measurement uncertainty with respect to the useful life of the installed rental assets; 
accordingly, the Fund periodically reviews the estimated useful lives of water heaters and believes it is currently 
appropriate to amortize the cost on a straight-line basis over 16 years.

Sub-metering equipment is comprised of sub-meters, installation costs, labour and direct materials. Sub-meters 
are amortized over there estimated useful lives of 10 years on a straight-line basis. Additional costs incurred 
as part of each executed contract are amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the contract which 
varies from 10 to 25 years. 

In the fourth quarter of 2010, the Fund changed an accounting estimate in respect of the useful lives of Stratacon’s 
sub-metering equipment. The useful lives changed from 6 years to 10 years based upon management’s belief 
that the recertification of meters may be accomplished less expensively than previously thought and may not 
result in new equipment replacement in every circumstance. The impact of reduced amortization in 2010 was 
approximately $270 with an estimated impact of $1,080 over 12 months.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets represent the right to rental cash flows. The intangible assets are stated at cost, adjusted to 
fair market value where cost exceeds the net recoverable amount. Rentals intangible assets are amortized over 
16 years on a straight-line basis in conjunction with the related equipment. 

Sub-metering intangible assets are comprised of cash flows related to customer contracts and relationships, and 
the benefits from certain contractual arrangements. Stratacon related customer contracts and relationships are 
amortized on a straight-line basis over the average estimated contract life of 16 years while other contractual 
arrangements are amortized on a straight-line basis between 2 and 5 years. A policy related to ECI intangibles 
has not been established until such time as the purchase price allocation has been completed. Additional 
details may be found in the notes to the financial statements.

The Fund reviews the intangible assets on an annual basis or at any other time when events or changes have 
occurred that would suggest an impairment of carrying amount.
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Disclosure and Internal Controls and Procedures

The Fund’s certifying officers have designed, and assessed the design of, a system of DC&P to provide 
reasonable assurance that: (i) material information relating to the Fund, including its consolidated subsidiaries, 
is made known to them by others; and (ii) information required to be disclosed by the Fund in its annual 
filings, interim filings and other reports filed or submitted by the Fund under securities legislation is recorded, 
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in securities legislation. As well, the 
Fund’s certifying officers have designed, and assessed the design of, ICFR to provide reasonable assurance 
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes 
in accordance with Canadian GAAP. There are no material weaknesses relating to the design of either 
DC&P or ICFR at December 31, 2010. There have been no changes to our ICFR during 2010 that has 
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, ICFR. The certifying officers have evaluated the 
effectiveness of the Fund’s DC&P and ICFR at December 31, 2010 and are satisfied that the Fund’s DC&P and 
ICFR was effective as at December 31, 2010. Management also did not identify any material weaknesses in 
the Fund’s ICFR at December 31, 2010.

Management does recognize that any controls and procedures no matter how well designed and operated, 
can only provide reasonable assurance and not absolute assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. 
In the unforeseen event that lapses in the disclosure or internal controls and procedures occur and/or mistakes 
happen, EnerCare intends to take whatever steps are necessary to minimize the consequences thereof.

Changes in Accounting Policies

In January 2009, the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (CICA) issued Handbook Section 1582, 
“Business Combinations”.

Section 1582 establishes standards for the accounting for a business combination. It provides the Canadian 
equivalent to International Financial Reporting Standard IFRS 3, “Business Combinations” (January 2008). 
The Section applies prospectively to business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the 
beginning of the first annual reporting period on or after January 1, 2011. 

IFRS will be required in 2011 for publicly accountable profit-oriented enterprises, including EnerCare. Refer to 
the IFRS section in this MD&A. 
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Outlook

The Rentals business saw significant improvement in Attrition levels in the last three quarters over comparable 
periods in the previous year. In 2011 we intend to extend the programs that we believe were effective against 
Attrition in 2010, as well as aggressively pursue new programs. 

The Sub-metering legislation coming into force on January 1, 2011 has resulted in increased customer interest 
in Sub-metering. EnerCare has increased the number of sales resources in the Sub-metering business by more 
than 50% since September, and intends to continue to bolster its sales capability this year to match customer 
opportunity. 

We are very pleased with the progress made in the integration of ECI with our existing Sub-metering business. 
ECI was EBITDA positive in the fourth quarter of 2010, the first quarter of operations by EnerCare. At the time 
of purchase we stated that EECI would be EBITDA positive within one year of acquisition. We are pleased 
with this progress to-date and we will continue our efforts to reduce Sub-metering operating and capital costs 
throughout 2011. These measures include modified processes to get the best of both Sub-metering businesses, 
elimination of duplicate systems and material sourcing economies.
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Glossary of Terms

Defined Term Definition

AIF Annual Information Form of The Consumers’ Waterheater Income Fund dated March 29, 2010.
Attrition Termination of customer relationships including buyouts.
Conversion The conversion of the Fund an income trust, to EnerCare., a dividend-paying corporation.
Conversion Circular The management information circular of the Fund dated October 22, 2010 in connection with the Conversion.
Convertible Debentures  $27,883 principal amount of 6.25% convertible unsecured subordinated debentures of EnerCare (formerly the 

Fund), which mature on June 30, 2017. Each Debenture is convertible into EnerCare common shares at the 
option of the holder at a conversion price of $6.48 (or 154.3210 shares per $1,000 principal amount of 
Convertible Debentures). 

DBRS DBRS Limited.
DC&P  Disclosure Controls and Procedures as defined under National Instrument 52-109 – Certification of Disclosure 

in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings.
DE Direct Energy Marketing Limited.
ECI EnerCare Connections Inc.(formerly EECI)
EECI Enbridge Electric Connections Inc. (now ECI).
EGD Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc.
EnerCare EnerCare Inc., formerly the Fund.
EnerCare Solutions EnerCare Solutions Inc., formerly the Trust.
Energy Act The Energy Consumer Protection Act, 2010.
Festival Festival Hydro Services Inc.
Fund The Consumers’ Waterheater Income Fund.
GAAP Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.
HVAC Heating, ventilation and air conditioning.
Incurrence Test 2009 Notes and 2010 Notes Incurrence EBITDA to Net Interest Expense.
ICFR Internal Control Over Financial Reporting as defined under National Instrument 52-109 – Certification of Disclosure 

in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings.
IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards.
MD&A Management’s Discussion and Analysis.
New Revolver $35,000 line of credit, with a maturity date of January 28, 2013.
OBA Agreement Open Bill Access agreement entered into between EGD and DE in 2010.
OCI Other Comprehensive Income.
OEB Order Ontario Energy Board decision and order issued August 13, 2009.
PUP Performance Unit Plans of the Fund.
Regulations Regulations promulgated by the Government of Ontario under the Energy Act and the RTA.
Rentals Business division that rents water heaters and other equipment.
RTA Residential Tenancies Act, 2006.
SG&A Selling, general and administrative expenses.
S&P Standard & Poor’s Rating Services.
Stratacon Stratacon Inc., which was acquired by the Fund in August 2008. 
Sub-metering Business division (Stratacon and ECI) that provides sub-metering equipment and billing services.
TH Energy Toronto Hydro Energy Services Inc.
THESL Toronto Hydro Electric System Limited.
Thunder Bay Thunder Bay Hydro Energy Services Inc.
Trust  The Consumers’ Waterheater Operating Trust.
Units Units of the Fund.
2003 Notes $225,000 of 5.245% Series 2003 A-2 Senior Secured Notes, which were repaid on January 28, 2010.
2009 Bridge $240,000 bridge credit facility, with a maturity date of January 28, 2011.
2009-1 Notes $60,000 of 6.20% Series 2009 -1 Senior Notes of the Trust, which mature on April 30, 2012.
2009-2 Notes $270,000 of 6.75% Series 2009 -2 Senior Notes of the Trust, which mature on April 30, 2014.
2009 Notes Collectively, the 2009-1 Notes and 2009-2 Notes.
2010 Notes $240,000 of 5.25% Series 2010 -1 Senior Unsecured Notes of the Trust, which mature on March 15, 2013.
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The management of EnerCare is responsible for the preparation and integrity of the financial statements 
contained in the annual report. These statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in Canada and necessarily include some amounts that are based on management’s best 
estimates and judgment. Management has determined such amounts on a reasonable basis and considers that 
the statements present fairly the financial position of EnerCare, the results of its operations and its cash flows. 
Management has also prepared financial information presented elsewhere in this report and has ensured that 
it is consistent with that in the financial statements.

To fulfill its responsibility, management maintains internal accounting controls and systems of high quality and 
establishes policies and procedures to ensure the reliability of financial information and to safeguard assets. 
The internal control systems and financial records are subject to reviews by external auditors during the 
examination of the financial statements. 

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors meets regularly with the external auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers 
LLP, and with management to approve the scope of audit work and assess reports on audit work performed. 
The financial statements have been reviewed and approved by the Board of Directors on the recommendation 
of the Audit Committee.

Signed,

John Macdonald Chris Cawston
President and Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer

Management’s Responsibility for  
Financial Reporting
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To the Unitholders of The Consumers’ Waterheater Income Fund (a predecessor to EnerCare Inc.)

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of The Consumers’ Waterheater Income 
Fund (the Fund), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as at December 31, 2010 and 2009 and 
the consolidated statements of earnings, comprehensive income, changes in unit holders’ equity and cash 
flows for the years then ended, and the related notes including a summary of significant accounting policies.

Management’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We 
conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards 
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including 
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide  
a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of the Fund as at December 31, 2010 and 2009 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the 
years then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

Chartered Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants

February 22, 2011

Independent  
Auditor’s Report
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The Consumers’ Waterheater Income Fund (predecessor to EnerCare Inc.)

Consolidated Balance Sheets

As at December 31,  
(in thousands) 2010 2009

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents (note 3) $ 52,495 $ 25,339

Accounts and other receivables (note 16)  25,329  15,636

Deposits (note 7) 1,435  1,435

Prepaid and other assets  3,224  3,742

    82,483  46,152

Equipment (note 4) 470,878  463,713

Intangible assets (note 5) 395,253  443,991

   $ 948,614 $ 953,856

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Bank indebtedness (note 6) $ – $ 27,438

Current portion of long-term debt (note 7) 1,195  226,149

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 27,763  16,755

Interest payable  7,374  8,803

Distributions payable to Unitholders  –  2,674

   36,332  281,819

Long-term debt (note 7) 599,166  335,542

Future income taxes (note 10)  152,600  171,184

   788,098  788,545

Unitholders’ equity (note 8)  160,516  165,311

   $ 948,614 $ 953,856

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Approved by the Board of Directors

Jim Pantelidis Michael Rousseau
Chairman Director
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The Consumers’ Waterheater Income Fund (predecessor to EnerCare Inc.)

Consolidated Statements of Earnings

For the years ended December 31,  
(in thousands, except per Unit amounts) 2010 2009

Revenues
Rentals and services (note 16) $ 207,217 $ 188,160
Investment income  201  86
   207,418  188,246

Expenses 
Cost of sales and selling, general & administrative 51,199  34,801
Amortization 110,329  112,539
Loss on disposal of equipment  21,340  25,601
Impaired assets  –  7,504
Interest

Short-term  3,460  2,583
Long-term 40,337  35,839

    226,665  218,867

Other Income (note 17)  1,015  –
Loss before income taxes (18,232)  (30,621)
Income tax recovery  (18,584)  (52,224)
Net earnings for the year $ 352 $ 21,603

Weighted average number of Units outstanding (note 9)  52,479  49,524
Fully diluted Units outstanding (note 9)  54,919  49,524

Basic and diluted earnings per Unit $ 0.01 $ 0.44

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

The Consumers’ Waterheater Income Fund (predecessor to EnerCare Inc.) 
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

For the years ended December 31,  
(in thousands) 2010 2009

Net earnings for the year $ 352 $ 21,603
Ineffective hedge loss transferred to earnings  –  5,671
Amortization of accumulated other comprehensive loss  3,698  3,252
Comprehensive income for the year $ 4,050 $ 30,526

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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The Consumers’ Waterheater Income Fund (predecessor to EnerCare Inc.) 
Consolidated Statements of Unitholders’ Equity

For the years ended December 31,  
(in thousands) 2010 2009

Capital – Units issued (note 11)

Balance – beginning of year $ 476,868 $ 476,868

Units issued (net of issue costs)  23,678  –

Capital – Units issued – end of year  500,546  476,868

Deficit

Balance – beginning of year (296,884)  (265,199)

Net earnings for the year  352  21,603

Distributions declared  (34,061)  (53,288)

Deficit – end of year  (330,593)  (296,884)

Convertible Debentures – Equity allocation (note 8)

Balance – beginning of year  –  –

Conversion rights – equity allocation  1,538  –

Convertible Debentures – Conversion value – end of year  1,538  –

Accumulated other comprehensive loss

Balance – beginning of year  (14,673)  (23,596)

Ineffectiveness of hedge  –  5,671

Amortization (note 7)  3,698  3,252

Accumulated other comprehensive loss – end of year  (10,975)  (14,673)

Unitholders’ equity – end of year $ 160,516 $ 165,311

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.



532010 Annual Report

The Consumers’ Waterheater Income Fund (predecessor to EnerCare Inc.) 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For the years ended December 31,  
(in thousands) 2010 2009

Cash provided by/(used in):
Operating activities $ 352 $ 21,603
Net earnings for the year

Items not affecting cash  
  Amortization  110,329  112,539
  Loss on disposal of equipment 21,340  25,601
  Impaired assets  –  7,504
  Non-cash interest expense  6,529  5,035
  Net gain on derivative  –  (509)
  Future income tax recovery  (18,584)  (52,224)
Operating cash flow  119,966  119,549

Net change in non-cash working capital  (99)  7,099
Cash provided by operating activities  119,867  126,648

Investing activities
Purchase of equipment  (72,190)  (77,149)
Stratacon earnout payments (note 18)  –  (1,520)
Acquisition of EnerCare Connections (note 19) (22,508)  –
Proceeds from disposal of equipment  3,665  3,568

Cash used in investing activities  (91,033)  (75,101)

Financing activities
Distributions to Unitholders  (36,735)  (55,938)
Proceeds from Unit issuance (net of issue costs)  23,678  –
Proceeds from line of credit  –  35,106
Repayment of line of credit  (27,438)  (22,479)
Proceeds from bridge facility  240,000  –
Repayment of bridge facility  (240,000)  (310,000)
Termination of hedge  –  (18,840)
Issuance of long-term debt  267,883  330,000
Repayment of long-term debt  (226,167)  (1,084)
Deferred finance costs on long-term debt  (2,899)  (3,640)

Cash used in financing activities  (1,678)  (46,875)
Increase in cash and equivalents  27,156  4,672
Cash and equivalents – beginning of year  25,339  20,667
Cash and cash equivalents – end of year $ 52,495 $ 25,339

Supplementary information
Interest paid $ 38,697 $ 30,858
Income taxes paid $ – $ –

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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1. Organization and Nature of Business

The Consumers’ Waterheater Income Fund (the “Fund” or “CWIF”) (predecessor to EnerCare Inc. (“EnerCare”) 
see note 21) was an unincorporated open-ended trust established with an unlimited number of trust units 
(“Units”). CWIF was created under the laws of the Province of Ontario pursuant to the Second Amended  
and Restated Declaration of Trust dated October 28, 2002, as amended and restated in December 2002, 
July 2006 and May 2008. Each Unitholder participates pro rata in any distribution from the Fund.

The Fund was created to hold all of the trust units of The Consumers’ Waterheater Operating Trust (“CWOT” 
or “Trust”). The Trust, through its wholly-owned subsidiaries, owns a portfolio of water heaters and other assets 
which are rented to customers across Ontario (“Rentals”) business. In August 2008, the Fund acquired all 
the issued and outstanding shares of Stratacon Inc. (“Stratacon”), entering the sub-metering (“Sub-metering”) 
business operating primarily in Ontario, Alberta and other areas in Canada. On October 1, 2010 the Fund 
acquired Enbridge Electric Connections Inc. (“EECI”) (now EnerCare Connections Inc. (“ECI”)) and operates  
a similar sub-metering business to Stratacon (see note 19).

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Fund and its subsidiaries and, have been 
prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). All significant 
intercompany transactions have been eliminated.

Changes in Accounting Policies in 2010

In January 2009, the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (CICA) issued Handbook Section 1582, 
“Business Combinations”. 

Section 1582 establishes standards for the accounting for a business combination. It provides the Canadian 
equivalent to International Financial Reporting Standard IFRS 3, “Business Combinations” (January 2008). 
The Section applies prospectively to business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the 
beginning of the first annual reporting period on or after January 1, 2011. 

The International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) became Canadian GAAP effective January 1, 2011 
for a large number of Canadian enterprises, including the Fund. IFRS will replace Canada’s current GAAP 
for those enterprises. The implementation date is for interim and annual financial statements relating to fiscal 
years beginning on or after January 1, 2011. Entities adopting IFRS will be required to provide comparative 
IFRS information for the previous fiscal year. The Fund’s conversion plan included a diagnostic assessment, 
which was completed in 2008, and detailed analysis, education and implementation completed in 2010. 
Management has analyzed and assessed the impact of six International Accounting Standards. Management 
and the board of trustees will approve all IFRS changes in March 2011.

The Consumers’ Waterheater Income Fund
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2010 and 2009 
(in thousands of Canadian dollars)
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Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires the Fund’s management 
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts in the consolidated financial statements 
and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Revenue Recognition

The Rentals business earns revenues based on the rental agreements that are managed under: (a) the  
co-ownership agreement with Direct Energy Marketing Limited (“DE”) as well as, (b) other third party arrangements. 
Under the co-ownership agreement with DE, which represent approximately 91% of its installed base, the 
Fund earns 65% of gross revenues, and the remaining 35% is earned by DE for installing and servicing 
the equipment. For other portfolio assets that are not under the co-ownership agreement, including the  
Sub-metering assets, the Fund recognizes 100% of the revenues, together with related operating and servicing 
costs in its financial statements.

Amortization

Equipment for the Rentals business is amortized using the straight-line method over sixteen years for the residential 
and other portfolio assets, and over eight years for additions to the commercial portfolio. Sub-metering 
equipment is amortized using the straight-line method over ten years with related selling costs amortized on 
a straight-line basis over the term of the contract which varies from 10 to 25 years. Furniture and fixtures and 
computer equipment and software are amortized on a straight-line basis over 2-5 yrs. Leasehold improvements 
are amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

In the fourth quarter of 2010, the Fund changed an accounting estimate in respect of the useful lives of Stratacon’s 
sub-metering equipment. The useful lives changed from 6 years to 10 years based upon management’s belief 
that the recertification of meters is less expensive than previously thought and may not result in new equipment 
replacement in most circumstance. The impact of reduced amortization in 2010 was approximately $270 
with an estimated impact of $1,080 over 12 months.

Intangible assets are amortized using the straight-line method over sixteen years for the Rentals business. 
Intangibles related to Stratacon are amortized on a straight-line basis over sixteen years for customer relationships 
and up to five years for other intangibles.

Income Taxes

The Fund uses the liability method to determine the future income tax liability and related earnings impact. 
Under this method, future income tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between the 
accounting and tax value of assets and liabilities and are measured using the currently enacted, or substantively 
enacted, tax rates that will be in effect when the differences are anticipated to reverse.
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Equipment

Equipment is stated at cost, adjusted to fair market value where cost exceeds the net recoverable amount. 
Costs include the purchase price of the asset, installation costs, and labour. For the Sub-metering business direct 
overhead costs are also included in the equipment cost.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets are recorded at cost, adjusted to fair market value where cost exceeds the net recoverable 
amount. The Fund reviews the carrying value of intangible assets on an annual basis or at any other time when 
events or changes have occurred that would suggest a possible impairment of the carrying amount. 

Financing Charges

Costs associated with the arrangement of long-term financing are netted against the carrying value of the debt 
and amortized using the effective interest method over the term of the debt. 

Stock-based Compensation

Effective January 1, 2007, the Performance Unit Plan (“PUP”) was implemented to reward senior management 
and trustees of the Fund. Awards were made in the form of phantom units, which vest at the end of a three 
year period, and will be settled in cash. The valuation of the plan liability is based upon the current Unit price 
and criteria established for each grant at each balance sheet date. The amount reported in earnings reflects 
the current Unit price and the earned portion of the vesting period. The Fund’s obligation for PUPs is recorded 
in accounts payable and accrued liabilities.

Financial Instruments

Recognition and Measurement – The Fund’s financial instruments consist of cash and equivalents, accounts 
and other receivables, current liabilities, and indebtedness. The Fund is exposed to interest and credit risks 
arising from these financial instruments. Financial assets are classified as either: (a) available-for-sale, (b) held-
to-maturity, (c) held for trading or, (d) loans and receivables. Financial liabilities are recorded as other liabilities 
at amortized cost. Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recorded on the balance sheet at cost, 
which approximates fair value. Subsequent measurement is determined by the classification of each financial 
asset and financial liability. 

Comprehensive income measures net earnings for the period plus other comprehensive income (“OCI”). 
Amounts reported as OCI are accumulated in a separate component of Unitholder’s equity as accumulated 
OCI. Unrealized gains and losses on financial assets that are held as available for sale are recorded in OCI 
until realized, at which time they are recorded in earnings. All derivatives are recorded at fair value in the 
balance sheet. Transaction costs related to financial liabilities are generally capitalized and amortized over 
the expected life of the financial instrument using the effective interest method. The Fund does not enter into 
financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes.
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The financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on the balance sheet consist of items classified as 
current and are amounts that are generally expected to be settled within one year. There are three levels of the 
fair value hierarchy as follows:

Level 1: Values based upon unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the 
measurement date for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2: Values based upon quoted prices in markets that are not active or model inputs that are observable 
either directly or indirectly for substantially the full term of the asset or liability.

Level 3: Values based upon prices or valuation techniques that require inputs that are both unobservable 
and significant to the overall fair value measurement.

Current assets and liabilities have carrying amounts in the balance sheet that approximate fair value because 
of the short-term nature of these instruments. The fair value of the $60,000 of 6.20% Series 2009 -1 Senior 
Notes and $270,000 of 6.75% Series 2009-2 Senior Notes (collectively, the “2009 Notes”) and the 
$240,000 of 5.25% Series 2010 -1 Senior Unsecured Notes (“2010 Notes”) and the $27,883 of 6.25% 
2010 convertible unsecured subordinated debentures (“Convertible Debentures”) are determined by the market 
price on or near the balance sheet date and measured as level 1 of the fair value hierarchy. At December 31, 
2010, the estimated fair value of the 2009 Notes, the 2010 Notes and the Convertible Debentures were 
$343,095, $242,400 and $29,556, respectively. The determination of a fair value related to the $8,488 
secured debt of Stratacon at December 31, 2010 is difficult to estimate in the private equity market. The 
existing borrowings, which were established primarily in 2007 and 2008, have fixed interest rates that vary 
from 7.5% to 8.75%. Based upon present balances and staggered maturities of the Stratacon debt that extend 
to 2022, a 1% increase in the interest rates reduces the fair market value on a discounted cash flow basis by 
approximately $300.

Credit Risk – The Fund’s financial assets that are exposed to credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash 
equivalents and accounts receivable. For less than 5% of the Rentals portfolio, the Fund is exposed to credit risk 
in the normal course of business for customers who are billed by DE or are billed by Enbridge Gas Distribution 
Inc. (“EGD”) outside their service territory. For accounts receivable from customers billed on EGD invoices 
within their service territory, the Fund is guaranteed payment by EGD for 99.42% of the amount billed (subject 
to certain exceptions) 21 calendar days after the invoices are issued. A related trust agreement also serves to 
mitigate the Fund’s credit exposed on receivables owing from EGD.

Market Risk – The Fund, through the Trust, has traditionally issued fixed term debt. At December 31, 2010, the 
Trust had repaid its December 2009, three year, $35,000 revolving credit facility (“New Revolver”). The Fund 
would be subject to interest rate risks on any amounts drawn on the New Revolver as the interest rate varies in 
accordance with changes in the bankers’ acceptance (“BA”) rate.

Following the completion of financing activities through to July 2010, the Fund’s borrowings are fixed rate 
obligations maturing in 2012, 2013, 2014 and 2017. The fixed rate obligations assumed with the Stratacon 
acquisition have maturities through 2022.
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Liquidity Risk – The Trust measures liquidity risk through comparisons of current financial ratios with the financial 
covenants contained in its credit facility agreements, and Master Trust Indenture and Supplemental Trust 
Indentures as applicable. To reduce liquidity risk, the Trust has maintained financial ratios which comply with 
the financial covenants applicable to the borrowings. 

The covenants under the 2009 Notes and 2010 Notes are contained in a master trust indenture and 
supplemental indentures effective January 29, 2010 and February 19, 2010, as applicable. Under the terms 
of these indentures, the Trust may not incur additional senior debt other than certain refinancing debt and 
certain working capital debt if the incurrence test is less than 3.8 to 1. The incurrence test is the ratio of defined 
EBITDA over defined interest expense calculated 12 months in arrears. The Trust exceeded this threshold 
requirement at December 31, 2010 and has the capacity under the covenants to raise approximately $9,000 
additional senior debt and draw on the New Revolver should it elect to do so. 

The Trust has also staggered its senior debt maturity dates through to April 30, 2014, and the Convertible 
Debentures mature on June 30, 2017. While the Trust will assess various refinancing alternatives including 
bank financing/refinancing and capital markets well before expected debt maturities, no guarantees can be 
provided that refinancing of maturing debt will be available or at rates comparable to those on the current debt.

Derivative Financial Instruments – Derivatives are carried at fair value and are reported as assets where they 
have a positive fair value and liabilities where they have a negative fair value. Derivatives may be embedded 
in other financial instruments or contracts. Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments are valued as 
separate derivatives when their economic characteristics and risks are not clearly and closely related to those 
of the host contract unless such contracts relate to normal course operations and qualify for the normal purchase 
and sale exemption in accordance with the standards. Since February 2009, the Fund has held no derivatives 
and there were no embedded derivatives.

Hedge Accounting – Where derivatives are held for risk management purposes or when transactions meet 
the criteria, including documentation requirements, specified in the CICA Handbook Section 3865, hedge 
accounting may be applied to the risks being hedged. When hedge accounting is not applied, the change 
in fair value of the derivative is recognized in earnings, including instruments used for economic hedging 
purposes that do not meet the requirements for hedge accounting. 

Accumulated OCI – When hedge accounting is applied, changes in the fair value and losses on hedging 
instruments may be recorded in OCI until reported in earnings. Accumulated OCI forms part of Unitholders’ equity.
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3. Cash and Cash Equivalents

   December 31, December 31,
   2010 2009

Cash  $ 52,495 $ 19,341

Cash equivalents  –  5,998

Cash and cash equivalents $ 52,495 $ 25,339

4. Equipment

   December 31, December 31,
   2010 2009

Rentals, Sub-metering and other assets:  

Cost   $ 812,688 $ 770,914

Accumulated amortization (341,810)  (307,201)

Net   $ 470,878 $ 463,713

5. Intangible Assets

   December 31, December 31,
   2010 2009

Cost:

Customer contracts and relationships $ 764,903 $ 763,358

Other intangibles  9,377  9,377

Total cost   774,280  772,735

Accumulated amortization  (379,027)  (328,744)

Net   $ 395,253 $ 443,991
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6. Bank Indebtedness

Under the New Revolver the Trust is subject to three principal financial covenants as defined in the loan 
documents. The covenants address interest and debt coverage. At December 31, 2010, the Trust complied 
with these covenants and had the ability to draw the full New Revolver limit of $35,000.

7. Long-term Debt

   December 31, December 31,
Long-term Debt 2010 2009

2003 Notes $ – $ 225,000

2009-1 Notes  60,000  60,000

2009-2 Notes  270,000  270,000

2010 Notes   240,000  –

Convertible Debentures  27,883  –

Other debt – secured  8,488  9,655

Total debt  606,371  564,655

Less: Deferred financing costs   4,472  2,964

Less: Equity component of Convertible Debentures  1,538  –

Less: Current portion of debt    1,195  226,149

Long-term debt $ 599,166 $ 335,542

At December 31, 2010, interest and principal payments on the total debt to maturity are:

Year   Interest Principal

2011  $ 36,917 $ 1,204

2012   34,961  61,247

2013   26,700  241,323

2014   11,182  271,383

2015   1,958  1,426

Thereafter   2,782  29,788

Total   $ 114,500 $ 606,371



612010 Annual Report

In December 2009, the Trust closed a $275,000 bridge and revolving credit facility, comprising a one-year 
$240,000 non-revolving bridge facility (“2009 Bridge”) and the New Revolver. The 2009 Bridge was drawn 
fully on January 27, 2010 to retire the $225,000 5.245% Series 2003 A-2 Notes on maturity. Security was 
released on January 29, 2010.

On February 19, 2010, the Trust issued new debt consisting of $240,000 5.25% 2010 Notes with semi-
annual interest payments on March 15 and September 15 in each year, with a maturity date of March 15, 
2013. The proceeds of the 2010 Notes were used to repay the $240,000 bridge credit facility entered into 
in 2009.

The 2009 senior debt consists of $60,000 6.20% 2009-1 Notes maturing April 30, 2012 and $270,000 
6.75% 2009-2 Notes maturing April 30, 2014. Semi-annual interest payments are due on April 30 and 
October 30 in each year.

On June 8, 2010 and July 6, 2010, the Fund issued a total of $27,883 of 6.25% convertible unsecured 
subordinated debentures, with interest payable semi-annually on June 30 and December 31, commencing 
December 31, 2010, until maturity in June 2017.

The Stratacon secured debt of $8,488 was arranged in a series of advances bearing interest at rates between 
7.5% and 8.75% with repayment terms ranging from 4 to 14 years ending in 2022. This debt was assumed 
with the acquisition of Stratacon. In addition, a cash collateral account was established at the inception of 
each of the secured debt transactions. Deposits receivable at December 31, 2010 are $1,435. No new 
secured debt has been undertaken for the Sub-metering business since the acquisition in 2008. 

Interest expense on long-term debt includes the impact of amortization of unrealized losses on the Hedge 
previously recorded in OCI. The amortization of $3,698 from Accumulated OCI was recorded as interest 
expense in 2010 which will end in conjunction with the maturity of the 2009 Notes. This charge is not included 
in the payment schedule above however, it will approximate the same amount over the next 12 months.

8. Convertible Debentures

The Fund issued $27,883 of 6.25% convertible unsecured subordinated debentures, with interest payable 
semi-annually on June 30 and December 31, commencing December 31, 2010, until maturity in June 2017. 
Each Convertible Debenture is convertible into Fund Units (“Units”) at the option of the holder at a conversion 
price of $6.48 per Unit (or 154.3210 Units per $1,000 principal amount of Convertible Debentures). The 
Convertible Debentures will not be redeemable by the Fund prior to June 30, 2013. On and after June 30, 
2013, and prior to June 30, 2015, the Fund may redeem with proper notice the Convertible Debentures 
provided that the volume weighted average trading price of the Units for the 20 trading days prior to the 5th 
trading day before the redemption notification date is not less than 125% of the conversion price. On or after 
June 30, 2015, the Fund may redeem with proper notice the Convertible Debentures for the principal amount 
plus accrued and unpaid interest.
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In determining the amount of the debt and equity components of the Convertible Debentures, the carrying 
amount of the financial liability is first determined by discounting the future principal and interest payments at 
the rate of interest prevailing at the date of issue for instruments of similar term and risk. The equity component 
equals the amount determined by deducting from the carrying amount of the compound instrument the amount 
of the debt component. For accounting purposes, the debt component was assigned a value of $24,774 (net 
of transaction costs of $1,571) and the conversion rights were assigned a value of $1,538.

At December 31, 2010, all Convertible Debentures remained outstanding. For 2010, interest expense 
comprised $984 on the face value of the Convertible Debentures and $246 representing the non-cash interest 
on the accretion of the carrying value of the Convertible Debentures respectively.

9. Earnings per Unit

Basic earnings per Unit are computed by dividing net earnings by the weighted average number of Units 
outstanding during the period. Dilutive computations are based upon an, if converted approach where interest 
expense attributable to the Convertible Debentures on an after tax basis is added back to earnings as part 
of the numerator and the impact of additional Units as a result of the conversion feature of 154.3210 Units 
per $1,000 principal amount is added to the denominator. The Convertible Debentures were anti-dilutive for 
2010 and therefore were excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per Unit.

The computations of basic and diluted earnings per Unit are shown below:

(in thousands – except per Unit amounts) 2010 2009

Net earnings $ 352 $ 21,603

After tax impact of Convertible Debentures  849  –

Fully diluted net earnings  1,201  21,603

Weighted average Units outstanding   52,479  49,524

Dilutive impact of Convertible Debentures  2,440  –

Fully diluted Units outstanding  54,919  49,524

Basic earnings per Unit $ 0.01 $ 0.44

Diluted earnings per Unit $ 0.01 $ 0.44
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10. Future Income Taxes

In 2011, the Fund’s would have become a taxable entity if the process of the Fund’s conversion to a corporation 
had not taken place as described in note 21, impacting distributable cash in 2011 and installment payments 
in 2012. Future distributions would have been treated as dividend income with an associated dividend tax 
credit for Canadian residents.

Prior to 2011, the Fund’s income taxes primarily reflected temporary differences expected to reverse in the 
future and the impact of future changes in tax rates applicable to the Fund. In December 2009, a reduction in 
future Provincial tax rates resulted in a future income tax recovery of $21,502.

The provisions for income taxes in the consolidated statements of earnings reflect an effective rate that differs 
from the combined Canadian federal and provincial rates, as follows:

  2010 2009

Earnings/(loss) before income taxes $ (18,232) $ (30,621)

Less: Earnings of the Fund not subject to tax (a)  35,569  66,662

Accounting (loss)  (53,801)  (97,283)

Combined statutory tax rate  31.0%  33.0%

Income tax recovery at the statutory rate  (16,678)  (32,103)

Impact of tax on trusts post 2010  –  –

Impact of tax rate reductions  –  (21,502)

Other    (1,906)  1,381

Tax recovery reported in net earnings $ (18,584) $ (52,224)

(a)  Earnings not subject to tax comprise distributions and realized Hedge losses.

The future income tax liabilities on the Fund’s balance sheets reflect the estimated tax on temporary and other 
differences as follows:

  2010 2009

Long-term future income tax liabilities  

Equipment $ 44,569 $ 48,672

Intangible assets  90,340  111,215

Different year-end of a subsidiary  18,443  14,188

Other   (752)  (2,891)

Total   $ 152,600 $ 171,184
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11. Units

The Declaration of Trust provided that an unlimited number of Units could have been issued. Each Unit was 
transferable and represented an equal undivided beneficial interest in any distribution of the Fund and in the net 
assets of the Fund. All Units had equal rights and privileges. Each Unit entitled the holder thereof to participate 
equally in allocations and distributions and to one vote at all meetings of Unitholders for each whole Unit held. 
The Units were not subject to future calls or assessments.

Units were redeemable at any time at the option of the Unitholder at a price per unit equal to the lesser of:  
(i) 90% of the market price on the date on which the Units were surrendered for redemption (redemption 
date); or (ii) 100% of the closing market price on the trading day immediately preceding the redemption date. 
Redemptions of Units were subject to a maximum of $50 in cash redemptions by the Fund in any one month. 
The limitation may have been waived at the discretion of the trustees of the Fund. Redemptions in excess of 
$50, assuming no waiving of the limitation, would have been paid and satisfied by the issuance of Series 2 
Unsecured Notes by the Trust, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Fund.

On June 8, 2010, the Fund completed a public offering of 5,210,000 Units of the Fund at a price of $4.80 
per Unit for gross proceeds of approximately $25,000.

Capital – Units Issued Number of Units Issued 
(in thousands – except Units) and Outstanding Net Proceeds

December 31, 2009  49,524,092 $ 476,868

Additional Units – Unit offering 2010  5,210,000  23,678

December 31, 2010  54,734,092 $ 500,546
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12. Performance Unit Plan (“PUP”)

The Fund implemented the PUP for its trustees and senior management. The purpose of the PUP is to: (i) support 
the achievement of the Fund’s performance objectives, (ii) ensure that interests of key persons are aligned 
with the success of the Fund, and (iii) provide compensation opportunities to attract retain and motivate senior 
management and trustees critical to the long-term success of the Fund.

The following table summarizes the active performance unit (“Phantom Units”) grants:

PUP Grants 
(in thousands) 2010 *2009 2008

Management 103 57 20

Trustees   29 20 13

Total     132 77 33

*The Phantom Units awarded in 2009 were cancelled in January 2011.

The PUP provides for payments in cash based on the number of Phantom Units awarded. Any incentive 
amount awarded will vest at the end of a three year period after the award. Prior to 2009, Phantom Units 
awarded to management employees will be multiplied by a performance target percentage of between 75% 
and 125%, of the award, based on the increase in Distributable Cash and Unitholder return over this 3 year 
period. Vesting of the Phantom Units awarded under the 2009 and 2010 PUP is based on the achievement 
of a minimum distribution per Unit target.

Upon a participant’s termination without cause or death, the vesting date will be deemed to be the date 
immediately before the date of the participant’s death or termination of position, office or employment. If the 
participant ceases to be an eligible participant for any other reason, the Incentive amount allocated to a 
participant that has not vested is forfeited.

In accordance with the terms of the PUP grants, an amount of $67 related to the 2007 management grant 
and $45 in respect of ineligible participants was paid in 2010. The Phantom Units awarded in 2009 were 
cancelled as the target requirements were unlikely to be met as a result of the reductions in distributions in 
September 2009.

At December 31, 2010 and 2009, the Fund had accrued PUP costs of $526 and $141, respectively and 
expensed $497 and $5, respectively.
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13. Segmented Information 

The Fund operates its business in two segments: Rentals and Sub-metering. The Rentals segment consists of a 
portfolio of approximately 1.3 million installed water heaters and other assets, rented primarily to residential 
customers in Ontario. The Sub-metering segment is engaged principally in providing the equipment and services 
to allow sub-metering and remote measurement of electricity consumption in individual units in condominiums, 
apartment buildings and commercial properties. The Corporate segment reports the costs for management 
oversight of the combined business, public reporting and filings, financing activities, corporate governance 
related expenses and income taxes. There are no transfers between the Rentals and Sub-metering segments, 
so no inter-segment eliminations are required. The accounting policies of the segments as outlined in note 2 of 
the annual financial statements have been applied consistently. Segment results are based upon rental charges 
and fees less expenses for cost of sales and general and administrative expenses, impaired assets and loss 
on disposals. This measure of segment earnings differs from net earnings in the consolidated statements of 
earnings. The Fund’s reportable segments operate only in Canada.

   Year ended December 31, 2010 Year ended December 31, 2009

    Sub-    Sub- 
Segment Data Rentals metering Corporate Total Rentals metering Corporate Total

Revenues  $187,574 $19,643 $           – $207,217 $177,842 $10,318 $           – $188,160

Expenses        

 COGS, SG&A  (21,507) (22,629) (7,063) (51,199) (15,388) (14,061) (5,352) (34,801)

Adjusted EBITDA 166,067 (2,986) (7,063) 156,018 162,454 (3,743) (5,352) 153,359

Impaired assets – – – – – (7,504) – (7,504)

Loss on disposal (21,340) – – (21,340) (25,601) – – (25,601)

EBITDA  144,727 (2,986) (7,063) 134,678 136,853 (11,247) (5,352) 120,254

Amortization    (110,329) (110,329)   (112,539) (112,539)

Interest income   201 201   86 86

Interest expense   (43,797) (43,797)   (38,422) (38,422)

Other income   1,015 1,015   – –

Tax recovery   18,584 18,584   52,224 52,224

Net earnings    352    21,603

Segment assets 814,731 49,855 84,028 948,614 877,497 30,207 46,152 953,856

Equipment  
 additions* $  68,977 $  3,213 $           – $ 72,190 $  73,053   $  4,096 $           – $  77,149

*Excludes acquisitions
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14. Transactions with DE

The Fund’s relationship with DE is significant, as DE services and supports more than 90% of the Fund’s 
customers and installed base. The following agreements govern the principal affairs between the Fund and DE.

Co-ownership Agreement:

DE is obligated to service the co-owned asset portfolio, effectively operating the day-to-day activities of almost 
all of CWIF’s rental business, and receives 35% of the gross rental revenue generated by the portfolio. DE is 
entitled to put forth one individual for consideration by EnerCare’s board for inclusion in EnerCare’s annual 
management information circular for election as a director of EnerCare for as long as it is servicer under the 
co-ownership agreement.

Origination Agreement:

DE must offer to sell all rental water heaters to the Fund at prescribed rates, essentially DE’s cost plus inventory 
service fee and an installation cost. The Fund has no obligation to purchase any water heaters from DE. The 
agreement also establishes an incentive fee payable to DE should certain portfolio growth targets be achieved. 
The initial term of the origination agreement is through December 2022, and the agreement is subject to 
extension or early termination in certain circumstances.

Other Agreements with DE: 

The Fund and DE have entered into an agreement for the billing and servicing of TH Energy units, as these 
assets are not subject to the co-ownership agreement. This agreement provides for the administration and 
servicing of the portfolio at a cost to the Fund based on a fee-for-service basis.

Additionally, the Fund and DE have entered into an agreement for the origination of HVAC rental units. DE has 
been given the non-exclusive right to originate HVAC equipment for rental customers and to offer protection 
plans related to these customers, generally at a price not to be greater than the price at which DE offers them 
to other customers. The agreement, subject to certain conditions, can be terminated by either party by giving 
notice to the other party by June 1 for the subsequent year. 
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Details of transactions between CWIF and DE as follows:

   Year ended December 31,

   2010 2009

Origination Agreement  

 Capital expenditures $ 60,914 $ 67,415

 Inventory service fee  3,974  4,254

Other capital expenditures  5,495  5,333

Other expenses, including TH Energy   

 Net billing and servicing costs  3,230  3,193

Total   $ 73,613 $ 80,195

15. Capital

The Fund views its capital as the combination of its indebtedness and equity balances. In general, the capital 
of the Fund is evaluated and determined in the context of its financial objectives, pending taxation in 2011 
and its strategic plan. The following table summarizes the significant components of capital:

   Year ended December 31,

Capitalization 2010 2009

Cash and cash equivalents $ 52,495 $ 25,339

Net investment in working capital  (5,149)  (7,419)

Cash, net of working capital  47,346  17,920

Total debt  600,361  589,129

Unitholders’ equity  160,516  165,311

Total capitalization – book value $ 760,877 $ 754,440

While the Fund carries a level of cash on hand, this amount is generally modest in relation to its overall capital 
and is an amount determined in reference to its pending distribution obligations, short-term changes in non-
cash working capital balances and possible investment opportunities. The level of indebtedness is determined 
in the context of its asset base, cash flows, financial ratios and covenants and the overall business risks. The 
Fund considers its overall capital to be adequate with current distributions and capital expenditures financed 
through existing cash flow.
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The Fund is impacted by the Trust’s indebtedness, subject to a number of covenants and restrictions including 
the requirement to meet certain financial ratios. At December 31, 2010 the Fund was in compliance with all 
of its covenants.

The equity component of capital changes primarily based on the earnings of the Fund less distributions paid 
and non-cash future income taxes. The Fund will also review its level of equity in the context of the change in 
taxation impacting the Fund commencing in 2011.

16. Billing and Servicing Matters

Capital Items

The Fund has been in discussion with DE regarding certain amounts DE has billed the Fund for water heater 
installations. The amounts at issue totalled approximately $3,100 at the end of 2010. Settlement with DE for 
a lower amount than billed would result in a reduction to previously stated capital expenditure amounts.

Earnings items

DE, through EGD, provides billing and collection services for substantially all of the Fund’s water heaters and 
other assets. Following the September 2009 billing system conversion implemented by DE, which coincided 
with a billing system conversion by EGD, the Fund’s ICFR identified issues principally associated with DE’s 
system conversion impacting the Fund’s customers, including issues in respect of the allocation of customer 
payments, customer collections, and billing issues, including completeness of billing, billing in respect of new 
customers and implementation of new rental rates. The Fund has been working closely with DE to identify and 
rectify these issues. The accounting estimates associated with these issues for 2010 are summarized as follows:

•   The Fund estimated and recorded revenues of $1,700 in respect of customer billings and adjustments 
associated with new customer additions and billing rate increases that have not been completed by DE. 

•   Collection exposures and the erroneous application of customer payments were identified for which a 
$1,600 provision was required related to revenues from customers outside the EGD customer areas.

•    Buyout charges of $750 that had been accrued were expensed to bad debts when billing charges were 
not invoiced.

The Fund is working closely with DE to resolve these billing issues, correct deficiencies and eliminate the need 
for these accruals, billing analysis and associated collection efforts. The amounts included in these financial 
statements reflect the amounts expected to be recovered from customers, but do not include any amounts the 
Fund may recover from DE for lost revenues arising from these billing system conversion issues. 

Settlement with DE for an amount in excess of what has been accrued would result in an increase to previously 
stated EBITDA amounts.
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17. Other Income

In September, 2010, the Fund and the vendors under the share purchase agreement pursuant to which the 
Fund acquired Stratacon reached a settlement in respect of various claims for indemnification made by the 
Fund pursuant to the share purchase agreement. The settlement included the release of $1,000 plus accrued 
interest to the Fund from the escrow account established at the time of acquisition which has been recorded as 
other income for the year ended December 31, 2010.

18. Stratacon Inc. Earnout

In accordance with the share purchase agreement with Stratacon’s former shareholders, effective July 31, 
2009, 2010 and 2011, additional consideration may become payable upon the achievement of certain 
contracted targets. The additional consideration is based upon a fixed payment amount for each qualified 
unit in excess of 10,000 on an annual basis. The first $1,667 of earnout payable annually is due in cash 
with any excess payable either in cash or fund Units, at the discretion of the Fund. Any earnout consideration 
payable by the Fund has been treated as additional purchase consideration. The Fund paid $1,520 in cash 
during 2009 in accordance with the first earnout period. In 2010, no amounts were payable in accordance 
with the second earnout period.

19. Acquisition – Enbridge Electric Connections Inc. 

On October 1, 2010, the Fund acquired 100% of the outstanding shares of EECI. The acquisition, which 
effectively doubled the Fund’s Sub-metering business, was accounted for using the acquisition method in 
accordance with section 1582 of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants handbook which 
establishes standards for the accounting for a business combination. It provides the Canadian equivalent 
to International Financial Reporting Standard IFRS 3, “Business Combinations” (January 2008). The Section 
applies prospectively to business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning  
of the first annual reporting period on or after January 1, 2011. ECI succeeded EECI and is included in the 
Sub-metering results for the three months ended December 31, 2010. The total purchase price was $22,772, 
including $22,508 paid in cash after the recognition of a $702 working capital adjustment after closing and 
$264 of acquisition costs which were expensed. 
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The following table summarizes the estimated fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the 
date of acquisition. The Fund is in the process of determining fair market valuations of certain amounts including 
equipment, intangible assets and tax balances and therefore the purchase price allocation is preliminary and 
subject to change.

   October 1, 2010

Current assets    $ 8,720

Equipment    20,026

Customer contracts, relationships and other Intangibles    1,545

Total assets acquired    30,291

Less: 

Current liabilities    (7,783)

Net assets acquired   $ 22,508

Equipment consists primarily of installed meters and selling and overhead costs which are amortized on a 
straight-line basis over ten years and the term of the contract which varies from 10 to 25 years, respectively. 

From October 1 to December 31, 2010, ECI earned revenue of $9,317 and had a net loss of $30.

20. Commitments

The following table summarizes the Fund’s office equipment, office lease and vehicle obligations.

   2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Total obligation $479 $180 $109 $110 –
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21. Conversion of the Fund to a Corporation

On January 1, 2011, Fund Units were exchanged for common shares of EnerCare. EnerCare assumed 
the Fund’s convertible debentures which became convertible into EnerCare shares on the same terms and 
conditions. The Trust was dissolved and EnerCare Solutions Inc., a 100% subsidiary of EnerCare, assumed 
ownership of its operations and the publicly held senior indebtedness. EnerCare will continue the business of 
the Fund and EnerCare Solutions Inc. will continue the business of the Trust. The board of directors and senior 
management of EnerCare and EnerCare Solutions are generally comprised of the pre-conversion members of 
the Fund’s board of trustees and senior management of the Fund. Reporting as at December 31, 2010 refers 
to units, unitholders and distributions, whereas from January 1, 2011 references are to shares, shareholders 
and dividends.
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